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To Trisha, my muse and eternal love



Preface
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In 1984, I traveled to Buenos Aires as part of my research for a biography of Auschwitz’s “Angel of Death,” Nazi Dr. Josef Mengele. I petitioned Argentina’s first democratically elected president, Raúl Alfonsin, for access to the country’s secret files on Mengele. There was no response for several weeks. Then, one night, at nearly 11:00 p.m., several uniformed police knocked on the door of my downtown hotel. I was put into the back seat of a blue Falcon, the very type of unmarked car that had become notorious under the military junta for taking away thousands of dissidents, many of whom were killed. But my trip ended at the main headquarters of the Federal Police. A grim-looking colonel informed me that he had been ordered to produce some documents. The folder I soon reviewed in an adjacent room contained a treasure trove of information about Josef Mengele and his decade as a fugitive in Argentina, everything from the original International Red Cross passport under an alias on which he had arrived from Europe to details of how he stayed one step ahead of Nazi hunters. A few of those papers raised broader questions about whether Nazi war criminals had reached safe haven in South America after World War II with the assistance of a few ranking Catholic prelates in Rome.

A few weeks later, I was in Asunción. There, I toured the country with Colonel Alejandro von Eckstein, a military officer who was not only a good friend of the country’s dictator, Alfredo Stroessner, but who had personally cosponsored Mengele’s application for Paraguayan citizenship. With von Eckstein in tow, I reviewed a small part of that country’s sealed Mengele file. And I met a contingent of diehard neo-Nazis in Nueva Bavaria (New Bavaria), in the south of the country. Mengele had found safe haven there in 1960. Feeling safe to talk openly because of von Eckstein’s introduction, they regaled me with stories about how a local hotel in the rain forest had served decades earlier as a clearinghouse for some of the most notorious Nazis. And mixed in those stories were references once again to clerics in Rome to whom those South American National Socialists were grateful.

After that book, Mengele, was published in 1986, I moved on to other subjects. But the story about the church and its possible ties to the Third Reich had captured my attention and I tried staying abreast of it. In 1989, The New York Times published my long letter, “Why the Vatican Kept Silent on Nazi Atrocities; The Failure to Act.” That was a response to an editorial by conservative commentator Patrick Buchanan absolving the church of any moral responsibility for the Holocaust. Two years later the Times published my op-ed, “The Bormann File,” in which I castigated Argentina for not releasing a secret dossier about Hitler’s deputy that I had seen when I was inside the country’s Federal Police headquarters.

The last paragraph of my 1989 Times letter explained that I approached the question of any role the church might have played during World War II both as a reporter and a Catholic: “Although my father was Jewish, my mother was Catholic, and I was educated by Jesuits. I consider myself as much a Catholic as Mr. Buchanan. But I am embarrassed by his need to defend the church on every historical issue. The church has been involved in terrible undertakings, and they cannot be denied. That many individual nuns and priests exhibited great bravery during World War II to save many victims does not diminish the silence or acts of the church’s hierarchy.”

My focus, I would discover in the coming years, was far too narrow. I had thought the story was about a volatile mixture: institutional anti-Semitism and a fear of communism exacerbated by church leaders who failed to act forcefully when confronted with one of history’s greatest horrors in the Holocaust. What I discovered instead was that what happened within the church during World War II was part of a much more complex saga. The truth could be found only by following the trail of money.

As Elliot Welles, an Auschwitz survivor and a Nazi hunter for the Anti-Defamation League, told me, “Profits. They matter as much in the church as they do inside IBM. Don’t forget it.”

Even in 2005, when I started this book in earnest, I still underestimated its scope. Then I envisioned reporting only the story of the scandal-ridden Vatican Bank, founded in the middle of World War II. It has operated for seventy years as a hybrid between a central bank of a sovereign government and an aggressive investment banking house. While the Vatican Bank is at the center of this modern chronicle, it is impossible to fully understand the finances of the Vatican without going back in church history.

This story is a classic investigative tale about the political intrigue and secretive inner workings of the world’s largest religion. It is not about faith, belief in God, or questions about the existence of a higher power. Instead, God’s Bankers is about how money, and accumulating and fighting over it, has been a dominant theme in the history of the Catholic Church and often in shaping its divine mission. “You can’t run the church on Hail Marys,” said one bishop who ran the Vatican Bank.

God’s Bankers lays bare how over centuries the church went from surviving on donations from the faithful and taxes levied in its vast earthly kingdom to a Lilliputian country that hesitatingly embraced capitalism and modern finance. During the 1800s, Catholics were barred from even making loans that charged interest. A century later the Vatican Bank orchestrated complex schemes involving dozens of offshore shell companies as well as businessmen who often ended up in jail or dead. How and why that remarkable transformation took place is in part the tale of God’s Bankers.

The challenge in this project was to follow the money from the Borgias to Pope Francis, all the while prying into an institution that guards its secrets and keeps massive documentation sealed in its self-described Secret Archives. Compounding the problem, as one author wrote in 1996, “Vatican officials would sooner talk about sex than money.” The story that Rome preferred I not tell had to be pieced together from documents scattered in private and public archives, information gleaned from litigation files and court records, and dozens of interviews. A handful of clerics and lay officials in Rome—who, fearing retribution, spoke only on the condition of anonymity—provided an unprecedented insight into the cutthroat infighting that has often crippled the modern Papacy. Those interviews laid out the considerable challenge confronting Pope Francis when it comes to reforming the finances of the Vatican.

As I assembled my reporting, I realized a crucial part of the mix was missing: the inexorable quest for power that is tied to the pursuit of money. In the Vatican, it is a volatile brew. There are nearly a thousand men, most celibate, who live and work together, and wield not only great earthly power but who believe for the most part that they have inherited divine rights in safeguarding the “one and true” church. In the end, they are human, hobbled by the same frailties and shortcomings common to the rest of us. Little wonder that despite their best intentions they have often ended up in internecine wars and stunning scandals that rival those of any secular government.

A public mythology in books, articles, and movies has grown around the church and its money. Freemasons, the Illuminati, mobsters protected by priests, murdered Popes, hoards of Nazi gold in the Vatican’s basement—the wildest theories might be entertaining but they poorly serve history. God’s Bankers cuts through the masses of misinformation to present an unvarnished account of the quest for money and power in the Roman Catholic Church. No embellishment is needed. That real tale is shocking enough.
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Murder in London

London, June 18, 1982, 7:30 a.m. Anthony Huntley, a young postal clerk at the Daily Express, was walking to work along the footpath under Blackfriars Bridge. His daily commute had become so routine that he paid little attention to the bridge’s distinctive pale blue and white wrought iron arches. But a yellowish orange rope tied to a pipe at the far end of the north arch caught his attention. Curious, he leaned over the parapet and froze. A body hung from the rope, a thick knot tied around its neck. The dead man’s eyes were partially open. The river lapped at his feet. Huntley rubbed his eyes in disbelief and then walked to a nearby terrace with an unobstructed view over the Thames: he wanted to confirm what he had seen. The shock of his grisly discovery sank in.1 By the time Huntley made his way to his newspaper office, he was pale and felt ill. He was so distressed that a colleague had to make the emergency call to Scotland Yard.2

In thirty minutes the Thames River Police anchored one of their boats beneath Blackfriars’ Number One arch. There they got a close-up of the dead man. He appeared to be about sixty, average height, slightly overweight, and his receding hair was dyed jet black. His expensive gray suit was lumpy and distorted. After cutting him down, they laid the body on the boat deck. It was then they discovered the reason his suit was so misshapen. He had stones stuffed in his trouser pockets, and half a brick inside his jacket and another half crammed in his pants.3 The River Police thought it a likely suicide. They took no crime scene photos before moving the body to nearby Waterloo Pier, where murder squad detectives were waiting.4

There the first pictures were taken of the corpse and clothing. The stones and brick weighed nearly twelve pounds. The name in his Italian passport was Gian Roberto Calvini.5 He had $13,700 in British, Swiss, and Italian currency. The $15,000 gold Patek Philippe on his wrist had stopped at 1:52 a.m. and a pocket watch was frozen at 5:49 a.m. Sandwiched between the rocks in his pockets were two wallets, a ring, cuff links, some papers, four eyeglasses, three eyeglass cases, a few photographs, and a pencil.6 Among the papers was an address book page with the contact details for a former official at the Banca Nazionale del Lavoro; Italy’s Socialist Finance Minister; a prominent London solicitor; and Monsignor Hilary Franco, who held the honorary title of Prelate of the Pope.7 Police never found the rest of the book.

A city coroner arrived at 9:30, two hours after the body’s discovery, and took it to London’s Milton Court morgue.8 There they stripped the corpse, took his fingerprints, and prepared for an autopsy. Their notes reflect that the dead man oddly wore two pairs of underwear.9

London police quickly learned from the Italian embassy that the passport was a fake. And it took only a day to discover the false name was simply a variation of the dead man’s real one: he was sixty-two-year-old Italian banker Roberto Calvi, chairman and managing director of Milan’s Banco Ambrosiano, one of Italy’s largest private banks. He had been missing for a week. A judge there had issued a fugitive warrant because Calvi had jumped bail pending the appeal of a criminal fraud conviction the previous year.

A Roman magistrate and four Italian detectives flew to London to help British police cobble together a personal dossier.10 Calvi had risen from a middle-class family to become the chief of the Ambrosiano. He had turned a sleepy provincial bank into an aggressive international merchant bank. The magistrate informed his British counterpart that Calvi was no ordinary banker. He was involved with some of Italy’s greatest power brokers in a secret Masonic lodge and he was a confidant of the Vatican’s top moneymen.11

Despite his criminal conviction, the Ambrosiano’s board had allowed him to remain at the helm of the bank. Although Calvi publicly promised to rescue his financial empire and restore its reputation, he knew that the Ambrosiano was near collapse under the weight of enormous debts and bad investments.12 The bank’s board of directors had fired him only the day before his body swung from Blackfriars.13

The police began patching together how Calvi ended up in London. His odyssey had begun a week earlier when he had flown from Rome to Venice. From there he went by car to Trieste, where a fishing trawler took him on the short journey across the Gulf of Trieste to the tiny Yugoslavian fishing village of Muggia.14 The moment he left Italy’s territorial waters he became a fugitive. From Muggia, an Italian smuggler arranged for him to be driven overnight to Austria, where he shuttled between several cities for a few days before boarding a private charter in Innsbruck for a flight to London. He spent the last three days of his life in flat 881, a tiny room at the Chelsea Cloisters, a dreary guesthouse in the capital’s posh South Kensington district.15

The number of unanswered questions grew as the investigation continued. They were not even certain how Calvi got to Blackfriars. It was four and a half miles from his guesthouse. On a walk he would have passed half a dozen other bridges, any of which would have been just as suitable for a flashy suicide. Calvi was well known for his entourage of bodyguards. But British investigators found none. Nor could they locate a black briefcase supposedly crammed with sensitive documents.16 Calvi’s waistcoat was buttoned incorrectly, which friends and family told the police was out of character for the compulsive banker.17 He had shaved his trademark mustache the day before his death, but police interpreted that not as a sign of a suicidal man but evidence that he was altering his appearance to successfully stay on the run.18

Two men had been with Calvi in London. Silvano Vittor, a small-time smuggler, had flown with him on the charter. The other, Flavio Carboni, was a flashy Sardinian with diverse business interests and much rumored mob connections.19 They had fled London before detectives could interview them.

The police had also to cope with a flood of false sightings. Many thought they had seen Calvi in his final days, everywhere from the Tower of London to a sex parlor to a nightclub in the company of a cocaine trafficker.20

Police soon confirmed that Calvi had a $3 million life insurance policy that named his family as the only beneficiaries.21 In his spartan hotel room investigators found a bottle of barbiturates, more than enough for a painless suicide. But toxicology reports revealed no trace of any drug. When police interviewed Calvi’s wife, Clara, she said that in one recent telephone call he told her, “I don’t trust the people I’m with anymore.”22 Anna, Calvi’s daughter, told the inspectors that she had spoken to her father three times the day before he died. He seemed agitated and urged her to leave her Zurich home and join her mother in Washington, D.C. “Something really important is happening, and today and tomorrow all hell is going to break loose.”23

Another complication was that Calvi suffered from mild vertigo. The police calculated that he had to be acrobatic to reach his hanging spot. It required climbing over the parapet, descending a narrow twenty-five-foot ladder attached to the side of the bridge, rolling over a three-foot gap in construction scaffolding, and then tying one end of the rope around a pipe and the other around his throat, all the while balancing himself with twelve pounds of rocks and a brick crammed into his pockets, suit, and crotch. Not likely, thought the lead detective.24 Moreover, the police matched the stones to a construction site some three hundred yards east of the Thames. Calvi would have had to pick up the rocks there and return to Blackfriars before putting them into his clothing. But lab tests found no residue on his hands. Also, since the ladder he would have descended was heavily rusted, police expected some trace on his hands, suit, or polished dress shoes. There was none.

The London coroner, Dr. David Paul, expressed no doubts that the cause of death was suicide. He relied on the opinion of Professor Keith Simpson, the dean of British medical examiners, who had performed the autopsy.25 A month after Calvi’s body was found, an inquest was held in the Coroner’s Court. Paul presented the details of the police investigation and autopsy to a nine-person jury. Simpson testified that in his postmortem exam he found no signs of foul play and “there was no evidence to suggest that the hanging was other than a self-suspension in the absence of marks of violence.”26 Thirty-seven others testified, mostly police officers.27 Calvi’s brother, Lorenzo, surprised the inquest with a written statement that revealed that Roberto had tried killing himself a year earlier. Carboni and Vittor, the duo with Calvi in London, refused to return to England but submitted affidavits. When they last saw Calvi late on the night he died, he was relaxed. Nothing seemed out of the ordinary. Police would not discover for another decade that Carboni had left London with Calvi’s briefcase packed with important documents.28

Paul admitted that it was difficult for Calvi to kill himself at Blackfriars. But it would have been just as tough for someone to murder him and leave no trace evidence or injuries on the body.29 Paul took ten hours to set forth his case. He allowed only a twenty-minute lunch break. It was Friday evening and the jury seemed restless to go home. But the coroner insisted they start deliberations.

The six men and three women reported back in under an hour. They were having trouble reaching a verdict. Dr. Paul instructed them that their decision did not have to be unanimous. Seven of nine jurors would suffice for a verdict.30 After another hour, at 10 p.m., they returned with a majority finding that Calvi had killed himself.31

The Calvi family instantly rejected the finding.32 Clara told an Italian newspaper that her husband was murdered and his death was connected to “ferocious struggles for power in the Vatican.”33 Some questioned whether she was motivated by money in pushing a murder theory since Calvi’s life insurance was voided if he killed himself.34 But the Calvis were not the only ones skeptical about the suicide ruling. Italian investigators who had assisted the British police believed there was foul play.35 And businessmen and government officials who knew Calvi were startled by the finding. “Why bother to go to London to do that,” a senior bank director said. The British and Italian press were unanimous that the British inquest seemed a surprisingly incompetent rush to judgment.36 That verdict would probably have been greeted with even greater derision had it then been public knowledge that only days before his death Calvi had written a personal letter—part confessional, part a plea for help—to Pope John Paul II.37 In the letter, Calvi declared he had been a strategic front man for the Vatican in fighting Marxism from Eastern Europe to South America.38 And he warned that upcoming events would “provoke a catastrophe of unimaginable proportions in which the Church will suffer the gravest damage.”39 He pleaded for an immediate meeting with the Pontiff so that he could explain everything. He also claimed to have “important documents” for the Pope.40

The catastrophe Calvi wrote about might have been the Ambrosiano’s collapse, which took place within weeks of his death.41 Early news reports said the bank had a debt of $1.8 billion, much of it guaranteed by the Istituto per le Opere di Religione (the Institute for Works of Religion, or more simply, the Vatican Bank).42 Investigators soon learned the Vatican Bank was the Ambrosiano’s largest shareholder. Did the Vatican itself play a role in the Ambrosiano’s failure? British tabloids quickly dubbed Calvi “God’s Banker.”43 A veritable conspiracy industry in “Who killed Calvi?” sprang up, complete with TV documentaries, books, and even walking tours of Blackfriars Bridge.

Nine months after the coroner’s verdict, three Italian forensics experts conducted a second autopsy but could not resolve whether the death was suicide or murder.44 The Calvis pushed for a new inquest.45 A British appellate court ordered one almost a year to the date after the original hearing.46

A different coroner, Dr. Arthur Gordon Davies, impaneled another jury of nine. This time there was no crammed single day of testimony and deliberations. Instead, the “what’s-the-rush” pacing translated into a nearly two-week hearing. When the jurors got the case they deliberated for three hours before settling unanimously on an “open verdict,” a British bureaucratic loophole that essentially means “we don’t know.” The original suicide finding was vacated. The case was reclassified unsolved and there was no official cause of death.47

The Calvis then petitioned Italian prosecutors to get a new investigation of the death.48 The family hired U.S.-based Kroll Security Group—a preeminent private investigative company—to conduct a fresh probe.49 Kroll concluded that both British inquests were “incomplete at best and potentially flawed at worst,” as they had glossed over evidence that indicated Calvi might have been drugged and murdered.50 The following year, the Calvis retained two former Scotland Yard forensic scientists to utilize a laser test not available in 1982 to reexamine the clothing. They discovered water staining on Calvi’s suit and unexplained marks on the back of his jacket. It was “almost inconceivable,” they concluded, that Calvi alone had climbed to the spot on the bridge’s scaffolding from which he was hanged.51

In 1998, sixteen years after his death, the Calvi family convinced a Roman judge to order the body exhumed. Pathologists at Milan’s respected Institute of Forensic Medicine conducted a thorough autopsy.52 They cited suspicious circumstantial evidence, including possible bruises on the banker’s wrist and foot. They also identified traces of another person’s DNA on Calvi’s underwear.53 The team offered a complicated explanation of how water stains on the clothing—read against a table of the tides on the fateful night—suggested it was likely murder. But there still was not enough compelling evidence to move the case forward.

Meanwhile, Italian prosecutors had a problem. Too many people were either confessing to killing Calvi or trying to cut deals on their own criminal cases by asserting they knew who had done it. So many claimed to have “the inside story” that after a while an offer to solve the Calvi case became the quickest way for a plea-bargaining defendant to lose credibility.

In 2002, when movers were packing up the Institute of Forensic Medicine in preparation for a cross-town move, they stumbled across some mislaid evidence—Calvi’s tongue, part of his intestines and neck, and some fabric from his suit and shirt—in the back of a cupboard. Three Roman investigating magistrates ordered the evidence be turned over for yet another examination. Scientists applied the latest forensic techniques, some of which had not existed just a couple of years earlier. If Calvi had climbed into place over the bridge’s scaffolding, reenactments demonstrated that he would have had microscopic iron filings under his nails or on his shoes and socks. There were none. And markings on his upper vertebrae indicated two points of strangulation. Calvi was strangled before the cord was placed around his neck.54

The Calvis cited those findings in demanding the criminal investigation move faster. But prosecutors were in no hurry, hoping to avoid any mistakes in a case already marked by many missteps. It took another three years before they had enough evidence to issue murder indictments against five people, including the former chief of the secret Masonic lodge of which Calvi was a member and also Flavio Carboni, who was with Calvi in London over the fateful days in 1982.55

A high security courtroom in Rome’s Rebibbia Prison was built for the sensational televised trial, which got under way on October 6, 2005.56 The murder case was circumstantial. And the motive was a convoluted one involving embezzlement and blackmail. Still, many legal observers expected a guilty verdict. The jury got the trial after twenty months but deliberated only a day and a half. Almost two years to the date of their arrest, the defendants received the verdict: not guilty on all charges.57

“It [the acquittal] has killed Calvi all over again,” a stunned prosecutor told the press.58 In 2010 and 2011 two Italian appellate courts upheld the acquittals.59

•  •  •

What did Calvi know that was so important that someone killed him and disguised it as an elaborate public suicide? That cannot be answered without pointing a spotlight on the corridors of power and money inside the Vatican. The underlying tale is how for centuries the clerics in Rome, trusted with guarding the spiritual heritage of the Catholic faithful, have fought an internecine war over who controls the enormous profits and far-flung businesses of the world’s biggest religion. Only by examining the Catholic Church’s often contentious and uneasy history with money is it possible to expose the forces behind Calvi’s death. Ultimately, Calvi’s murder is a prequel to understanding the modern-day scandals from St. Peter’s and fully appreciating the challenges faced by Pope Francis in trying to reform an institution in which money has so often been at the center of its most notorious scandals.
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The Last Pope King

Long before the church became a capitalist holding company in which men like Calvi flourished, the Vatican was a semifeudal secular empire.1 For more than a thousand years popes were unchallenged monarchs as well as the supreme leaders of the Roman church. Their kingdom was the Papal States. During the Renaissance, Popes were feared rivals to Europe’s most powerful monarchies. And at its height in the eighteenth century the church controlled most of central Italy. Popes believed that God had put them on earth to reign above all other worldly rulers.2

The Popes of the Middle Ages had an entourage of hundreds of Italian clerics and dozens of lay deputies. In time, they became known as the Curia, referring to the court of a Roman emperor. They assisted the Pope in running the church’s spiritual and temporal kingdoms. Those outside the Vatican thought of the Curia simply as the bureaucracy that administered the Papal States. But that simplistic view minimized the Ladon-like network of intrigue and deceit composed largely of celibate single men who lived and worked together at the same time they competed with each other for influence with the Pope.3

The cost of running the church’s kingdom while maintaining the profligate lifestyle of one of Europe’s grandest courts pressured the Vatican always to look for ways to bring in more money.4 Taxes and fees levied on the Papal States paid most of the empire’s basic expenses. The sales of produce from its agriculturally rich northern land as well as rents collected from its properties throughout Europe brought in extra cash. But over time that was not enough to fuel the lavish lifestyles of the Pope and his top clerics. The church found the money it needed in the selling of so-called indulgences, a sixth-century invention whereby the faithful paid for a piece of paper that promised that God would forgo any earthly punishment for the buyer’s sins. The early church’s penances were often severe, including flogging, imprisonment, or even death. Although some indulgences were free, the best ones—promising the most redemption for the gravest sins—were expensive.5 The Vatican set prices according to the severity of the sin and they were initially available only to those who made a pilgrimage to Rome.6

Indulgences helped Urban II in the eleventh century offset the church’s enormous costs in subsidizing the first Crusades. He offered full absolution to anyone who volunteered to fight in “God’s army” and partial forgiveness for simply helping the Crusaders. Successive Popes became ever more creative in liberalizing the scope of indulgences and the ease with which devout Catholics could pay for them. By the early 1400s, Boniface IX—whose decadent spending kept the church under relentless financial pressure—extended indulgences to encompass sacraments, ordinations, and consecrations.7 A few decades later, Pope Paul II waived the need for sinners to make a pilgrimage to Rome. He authorized local bishops to collect the money and dispense the indulgences and also cleared them for sale at pilgrimage sites that had relics of saints.8 Sextus IV had an inspired idea: apply them to souls stuck in Purgatory. Any Catholic could pay so that souls trapped in Purgatory could get on a fast track to Heaven. The assurance that money alone could cut the afterlife in Purgatory was such a powerful inducement that many families sent their life savings to Rome. So much money flooded to Sextus that he was able to build the Sistine Chapel.9 Alexander VI—the Spanish Borgia whose Papacy was marked by nepotism and brutal infighting for power—created an indulgence for simply reciting the Rosary in public. The new sales pitch promised the faithful that a generous contribution multiplied the Rosary’s prayer power.10,I

Each Pontiff understood that tax revenues from the Papal States paid most of the day-to-day bills, while indulgences paid for everything else. The church overlooked the widespread corruption and graft inherent in collecting so much cash and instead grew ever more dependent on indulgences.12 And as they got ever easier to buy and promised more forgiveness, they became wildly popular among ordinary Catholics.13

Indulgences were, however, more than a financial lifeline. They also helped medieval Roman Popes withstand challenges to their secular power. So-called antipopes—usually from other Italian cities—claimed they, rather than the pope elected in Rome, had the political or divine right to rule the Catholic Church.14,II Although some antipopes raised their own armies and had popular backing, they never mustered the moral authority to issue indulgences. Repeated efforts over centuries by pretenders to the Papacy to package and sell forgiveness for sins failed. Few Catholics believed that anyone but the Roman Pope had the direct connection with God to offer a real indulgence.16 And when the Pope’s armies were called upon to sometimes crush an antipope, it was usually the flood of cash from indulgences that paid for the war.

By the reign of Leo X—the last nonpriest elected Pope in 1513—a growing chorus of critics condemned indulgences as a shameless ecclesiastical dependence. Leo, a prince from Florence’s powerful Medici family, was a cardinal since he was thirteen. He was accustomed to an extravagant lifestyle by the time he became Pope at thirty-eight. Leo made the Papal Court the grandest in Europe, commissioning Raphael to decorate the majestic loggias. The Vatican’s servants nearly doubled to seven hundred. Assuming the role of a clerical aristocracy, cardinals were called Princes of the Church.17 Leo had no patience for critics who demanded he curb the sale of indulgences. He tried silencing his detractors by threatening excommunication.18 When that failed, he pressed ahead with a futures market by which diminution was available for sins not yet committed.19 So much cash flooded in that he could build St. Peter’s cathedral.20

Pope-Kings unvaryingly were scions of a handful of powerful Italian families. When one of their sons became Pope, the by-products of a Papacy often included rampant corruption, pervasive nepotism, and unbridled debauchery.21 The cash from indulgences mostly became a bottomless pit.22

The licentious lifestyle of the Papal Court and the widespread abuses in selling indulgences became a rallying cry for Martin Luther and the Reformation.23 Pope Leo responded by excommunicating Luther.24 One of the few benefits from the schism was that since Protestants condemned indulgences, the Holy See remained unopposed when it came to selling forgiveness to believers in Christ.

The steady flow of cash became ever more important as the Vatican suffered from the repercussions of the liberal political and social upheaval that swept Western Europe in the late eighteenth century, climaxing in the 1789 French Revolution. Monarchies friendly to the church were either toppled or greatly weakened. When Napoleon came to power in France in 1796 he demanded the Vatican pay millions a year in tribute to him. When the church could not afford to do so, he dispatched troops to Italy to strip many churches and cathedrals of anything of value and return the plunder to France. Worse, Rome’s real estate income in post-revolution France was extinguished as the nascent republic nationalized many church properties.25 The new National Assembly banned French bishops from sending to Rome any of the money they raised. It was not much better in other countries. In Austria, cash-strapped Emperor Joseph II undercut Papal authority by diverting the Vatican-bound money to his own treasury. Revenue from Britain, Scandinavia, and Germany slowed.26 Even Italy’s Prime Minister—personally approved for the office by Pope Pius VI—imposed a tax on church properties in a bid to stem the country’s financial crisis. Pius VI denounced the new tax as “the work of the devil.”27

The fallout continued as political unrest in Europe spilled over into the first half of the nineteenth century: Papal income fell in a remarkable forty of the century’s first fifty years.28 A few lay advisors worried that the social instability that wreaked havoc with church finances would not pass quickly. They recommended exploring ways by which the church might become less dependent on donations from the faithful. But such suggestions were invariably dismissed. Most ranking clerics believed that modern economic theory was a pernicious and reprehensible component of the liberal secular movement that had infected Europe. The Vatican had consigned to the inviolable Index of Prohibited Books John Stuart Mill’s seminal Principles of Political Economy.29 Pope Benedict XIV, in a much heralded encyclical,Vix Pervenit (On Usury and Other Dishonest Profit), reiterated the long-standing church ban on loaning money with interest. By condemning interest-bearing loans as “illicit,” “evil,” and a “sin,” Benedict ended any internal debate.30

The Vatican’s antiquated view about money meant that it did nothing to encourage fiscal growth or industrial development in the Papal States. The economy stagnated, and over decades tax revenues steadily declined.31

By the time Gregory XVI, the son of a lawyer, became Pope in 1831, the situation was so dire that he felt compelled to do something remarkable: he borrowed money from the Rothschilds, Europe’s preeminent Jewish banking dynasty.32 The £400,000 loan ($43,000,000 in 2014) was a lifeline to the church.33 The Rothschilds had a solid reputation when it came to bailing out distressed governments. They had steadied Austria’s finances after the Napoleonic Wars and provided enough money to squash two rebellions in Sicily.34

James de Rothschild, head of the family’s Paris-based headquarters, became the official Papal banker.35 One of his brothers, Carl, who ran the family’s Naples branch, began traveling to Rome to consult with the Pope. Their financial empire prompted a mixture of envy and resentment among church officials. Most traditionalists, who referred to James as the leader of “international Jewry,” were appalled that the church had resorted to “Christ-killers” for financial succor.36 French Poet Alfred de Vigny wrote that “a Jew now reigns over the Pope and Christianity. He pays monarchs and buys nations.”37 German political writer Karl Ludwig Börne—born Loeb Baruch but changed his name upon becoming a Lutheran—thought that Gregory had demeaned the Vatican by giving Carl Rothschild an audience. Börne noted that “a wealthy Jew kisses his [the Pope’s] hand” whereas “a poor Christian kisses the Pope’s feet.” He fanned the distrust among many of the faithful: “The Rothschilds are assuredly nobler than their ancestor Judas Iscariot. He sold Christ for 30 small pieces of silver; the Rothschilds would buy Him, if He were for sale.”38

It had been only thirty-five years since the destabilizing aftershocks from the French Revolution had led to the easing of harsh, discriminatory laws against Jews in Western Europe. It was then that Mayer Amschel, the Rothschild family patriarch, had walked out of the Frankfurt ghetto with his five sons and established a fledgling bank. Little wonder the Rothschilds sparked such envy. By the time Pope Gregory asked for a loan they had created the world’s biggest bank, ten times larger than their closest rival.39

Church leaders may not have liked the Rothschilds but they did like their cash. Shortly after the first loan, the Pope bestowed on Carl the medal of the Sacred Military Constantinian Order of St. George. For their part, the Rothschilds thought the Vatican was the most disorganized and chaotic mess they had ever encountered. They were startled to discover the church had no budgets or balance sheets. The prelates who controlled the money had no financial training. There were no independent reviews or audits. The combination of secrecy and disorder was ripe for abuse. When the Papal States fell into debt, the Pope sometimes simply repudiated the obligation and refused to pay. It was little wonder that the number of countries or banks willing to loan to the church had shrunk. Still, the Vatican rebuffed all financial reforms the Rothschilds suggested. Pope Gregory was suspicious of modernity, thought democracy was dangerous and destabilizing, and condemned even railroads as the work of the devil.40

Gregory died in 1846. His successor was Pius IX. Pius, the fourth son of a count, confronted a new problem: a surging tide of Italian nationalism that threatened the church’s control of the Papal States.41 Since the eighth century, the Papal States had been the earthly symbol of the church’s power. By the time Pius became Pope, the Vatican’s land spread east from Rome in a broad swath that split Italy in half. It was sandwiched between two colonial powers, the Hapsburgs to the north and the French to the south. Pius was barely on the Papal throne when popular uprisings erupted across Italy. A loosely knit federation of anticlerical anarchists and intellectuals hoped to expel the colonial powers and establish a unified Italian republic with Rome as its capital. In their vision there was no room for the Papal States. Pius viewed the nationalists with alarm and disdain.42

Determined not to lose the church’s empire and all its income, Pius tried dampening the widespread nationalist fervor with a conciliatory step: he introduced some reforms in the Papal States.43 His decrees established the first ever city and state councils and lifted some restrictions on speech. He freed more than a thousand political prisoners and created a Consultative Assembly composed of twenty-four elected lay representatives.44 The standing gallows in the center of each city were demolished, and the Pope loosened the censorship on newspapers. The changes were popular. But they were a decade too late.

Sicily exploded in full rebellion in January 1848. There was a revolt in Palermo that same month.45 Pius scrambled to stay ahead of the deteriorating situation by making more concessions. He set forth the outlines for a constitution that alluded vaguely to limiting his own secular power.46 But the compromises from Rome got lost in the escalating violence. The nationalists drove the Austrians from Milan that spring. Fearing the Austrians might try to seize some of the church’s lands in retaliation, Pius dispatched ten thousand troops. Word spread fast that the church’s army was on the march. Ordinary Italians were enthusiastic. But almost as quickly as Pius had sent them, he reversed himself, declaring that he did not think the church should be at war with a devoutly Catholic nation such as Austria.47

Popular sentiment boiled when Pius wavered. Romans, in particular, were furious and condemned the Pope as a reactionary posing as a reformer. Large crowds protested daily outside St. Peter’s and breakaway gangs clashed frequently with the Vatican’s Swiss Guards. On November 15, 1848, a mob surged into the Palace of the Chancellery and chased down Count Pellegrino Rossi, the Papal Prime Minister. They cornered him on a staircase and slit his throat.48 The next day an armed gang swarmed near the Palazzo del Quirinale and killed several Swiss Guards as well as the Pope’s personal secretary.49 Some in the mob insisted the Pope be taken prisoner. A few days later, disguised as a common priest—and with his face partially concealed by a large scarf and dark glasses—Pius fled Rome in a carriage for the remote sea fortress at Gaeta in southern Italy. The king of Naples guaranteed his safety.

France’s Louis Napoleon (later Napoleon III) commissioned an expeditionary force of nine thousand troops and sent them to battle the Italian nationalists so Pius could return to Rome. The fighting was bitter and it took eight months before the French retook Rome and toppled the fledgling Republic. French army officers and three senior cardinals (the so-called Red Triumvirate) ran the city while the Pope was in exile. The French would not allow Pius to return until they were confident all the nationalist cells were eliminated.50

Pius returned to the Vatican nine months later. He was now the reactionary that people mistakenly thought he was before the fighting had forced him to flee for his life. The Pope would never again consider any reforms nor would there be any more compromises. The disarray he witnessed upon his return to Rome further convinced him that modern thought caused disorder. Crime was rampant. Price gouging over food exacerbated widespread hunger. Jews, a favorite scapegoat, received most of the blame, especially since some had worked with the nationalists.51 Pius even made Rome’s Jews pay the cost of his return since he contended they must have somehow been the agitators responsible for his exile in the first place.52

Worries about the chaos in Rome were soon replaced by concerns over the dire condition of the church’s finances. The bedlam meant sales of indulgences had plummeted. Collection of taxes in the Papal States had been badly affected. There was an enormous pile of two years of unpaid bills as well as new obligations to pay for the French garrison that now protected Rome. The Vatican desperately needed an infusion of cash. The Catholic bank to which Pius hoped to go for help, Paris-based Delahante and Company, had collapsed from the fallout of the Third French Revolution.53 Although the aristocratic Pius was an unrepentant advocate of a medieval view of Jews as the evil architects of everything from rationalism to Freemasonry to socialism, he reluctantly agreed that only the Rothschilds could again keep the Church afloat.54

The new Rothschild loan was 50 million francs—more than $10,000,000. That was more than the Vatican’s entire budget for a year. Two additional loans were soon forthcoming, totaling another 54 million francs.55,III

The Rothschilds, meanwhile, were criticized by some Jewish leaders who felt as though the family simply profited from the church without making any effort to change its harsh policies toward Jews. So the Rothschilds tried leveraging their influence to beseech the Holy See to improve conditions for the fifteen thousand Jews in the Papal States.57 They asked that the Pope cancel extra taxes levied solely on Jews, the prohibition on taking property from the ghetto, and the ban on working in professions, and that he abolish onerous evidentiary standards that put them at tremendous disadvantage in court cases. Pius sent a written assurance to the Rothschilds through the Papal Nuncio in Paris that he would help.58 Privately, he told some of his aides that he preferred martyrdom to acceding to the Rothschild requests.59 Pius ultimately made only a single concession: he tore down the walls and chained gates that ringed Rome’s notorious Jewish ghetto, the last in Europe set apart by a physical boundary.60 But it had no practical effect, as Jews were prohibited from moving anywhere else.61 When Carl Rothschild visited Rome four months later and complained that little had changed, Pius mollified the family by lifting a long-standing requirement that Jews attend proselytizing sermons every week on their Sabbath.

Pius bristled at the church’s dependency on the Rothschilds. So did prominent Catholic bankers, like the Belgian André Langrand-Dumonceau, who declared it “shameful” to borrow money from Jews.62 Church leaders believed Jewish financiers were Freemasons, part of a larger international effort to destabilize the Vatican and push a secular philosophy in which worship of money replaced that of God.63 To make the church less reliant, Pius appointed a deacon, Giacomo Antonelli, as his Cardinal Secretary of State (roughly the Pope’s Prime Minister) as well as chief of the Papal Treasury.IV Antonelli, who came from a prosperous Napolitano family, had been one of Pius’s few trusted aides in exile.65 It was a controversial selection. According to Antonelli’s biographer, Frank Coppa, “In pride he was considered a match for Lucifer, in politics a disciple of Machiavelli.”66 But he had the backing of Pius, the only person who mattered. The Pope gave him broad leeway to make the church self-sufficient.67

Antonelli began by ending the Vatican’s financial subsidies for clerical orders such as the Jesuits and Franciscans. They had historically been a costly drain.68 Although it caused a furor among the religious orders that relied on getting money from Rome, Pius refused any entreaty to reverse the decision. And as part of an ambitious restructuring of the church’s debt—and against the advice of a majority in the Curia—Antonelli raised taxes and introduced new tariffs in the Papal States. He negotiated with the Rothschilds to consolidate some of the Vatican’s outstanding debts into a single forty-year loan.69 It was for a then staggering 142,525,000 francs (around $30,000,000, some 40 percent of the church’s outstanding debt) at a 5 percent interest rate.70 Antonelli proved as tough a negotiator as James Rothschild. He resisted the bankers’ demands that the Vatican’s extensive real estate serve as collateral. In 1859, with the new loan in place, Antonelli balanced the Papal budget for the first time since the start of the century.71

Antonelli soon devised a plan to entirely bypass the Rothschilds: the church would sell interest-bearing debt directly to the faithful without using an investment bank. Two Catholic newspapers offered the chance to test his do-it-alone proposal. In 1861, the Vatican brought the Jesuits’ fortnightly La Civiltà Cattolica (Catholic Civilization) to Rome. And it purchased L’Osservatore Romano (The Roman Observer), a paper that became required reading in far-flung Catholic communities.72 Besides generic articles about faith, Antonelli crammed both papers with appeals for donations. The cash that came in was double his target.73 The Pope approved the sale of future debt without the Rothschilds.

In 1860, the church issued 60 million lire in Vatican “bonds.” Priests urged the faithful to buy them as their “religious duty.” Bishops collected the money and sent it to Rome.74 And when the church eventually needed help managing its debt, Antonelli and Pius ushered in two Paris-based Catholic bankers, the Marquis de la Bouillerie and Edward Blount.75 Free of the Rothschilds, it was not long before Pius rebuilt some of the wall around Rome’s Jewish ghetto.76

Catholics gave money to the church despite Pius’s unpopularity. Italians longed for a unified Italy. They knew the Papal States were an obstacle to achieving that. The Pope’s likability quotient had also suffered after a widely publicized incident in 1858 in which the Papal police in Bologna forcibly seized a six-year-old boy, Edgardo Mortara, from his Jewish parents after a Catholic housekeeper told friends she had secretly baptized the child years earlier when he had been gravely ill as an infant.77 Once children were baptized the church considered them to be Catholic and therefore Jewish parents could not be trusted to raise them. For centuries, children allegedly baptized in the Papal States had been taken from their birth parents and raised either by a Catholic family or placed into a church-run institution dedicated to the conversion of Jews.78

What made the Mortara case different was that the youngster’s confinement to a Rome conversion center had sparked appeals to Pius personally to intervene and order the boy returned to his parents. Pius instead directed the boy be brought regularly to the Vatican’s Esquiline Palace, where he promised to personally raise him as a Catholic.79

The boy was, of course, awed by the splendor of the Papal Court, and Pius steadfastly ignored many appeals for his release. Napoleon III, who found it galling that the French garrison made it possible for the youngster to be held, condemned the kidnapping, as did his devout and popular wife, Empress Eugénie. The Prime Minister of the Italian state of Piedmont—seeing this as an opportunity to weaken the Papacy—promised to return the boy to his parents.80 And Catholics in America and Britain denounced the boy’s taking. Pius dismissed the outcry as a conspiracy of “freethinkers, the disciples of Rousseau and Malthus.”81 Later, in a reference often used about Jews, Pius chided his critics as “dogs” and complained there were too many in Rome.82

When a delegation of Roman Jews visited Pius and pleaded for the boy’s release, the Pope erupted in anger, accusing them of stirring up popular sentiment against the Papacy. Personal appeals from the Rothschilds went unanswered. La Civiltà Cattolica fed the widely held belief that Jews murdered Christian children in order to use their blood in rituals. It reported Eastern European Jews had kidnapped and crucified children and suggested that the child’s parents wanted him back only so they could torture him since he was now a Catholic.83 The paper also published a story about Edgardo’s early months in Rome, claiming that “he begged to be raised in a Christian home,” and that, supposedly, without any coaxing, he said, “I am baptized and my father is the Pope.”84

Antonelli knew the impassioned controversy was bad for business. Contributions from the faithful had plummeted due to the international outrage. Antonelli asked the Pope to reconsider. But Pius would not budge. “I have the blessed Virgin on my side,” he told his Secretary of State.85 And as for those who might not want to give money to the church because they were alienated by the taking of the boy, Pius told Antonelli that was his job to fix it.86,V

The Pope had picked a bad time to test the limits of his secular power. Although the French had returned Pius to Rome, the nationalists had not abandoned their quest to unite Italy. A new wave of bloody insurrections kicked off across the peninsula in 1859. The resurgent instability caused distress inside St. Peter’s. Napoleon’s armies joined Sardinian militias in fighting Austrian troops and soon all of Italy was engulfed in civil war. The Hapsburgs eventually lost Lombardy. And the Bourbons relinquished control of Naples. Venice and Sardinia fell into the nascent unified Italian Republic. In 1861, the nationalist army annexed most of the Papal States. The Pope was now the secular king only of Rome.

Antonelli beseeched Pius to liberalize the Vatican’s investments. Having lost the Papal States’ income, the church would either have to downsize the Pope’s court and Curia or find creative ways to bring in more cash. Approving Vatican “bonds” as he had the previous year was only the first step, Antonelli told the Pope. Antonelli confided to a colleague that he thought Pius would give him more leeway over the finances so long as the Pope did “not consult the Holy Spirit.”88

Pius gave his answer later that year in an encyclical, Quanta Cura (Condemning Current Errors) and an attached Syllabus of Errors. The Syllabus caused an uproar.89 It, relied on edicts of previous Popes to denounce eighty tenets of modern life, including freedom of speech, divorce, the right to rebel against a lawful government, and the choice of people to practice religions other than Catholicism. Syllabus deplored materialism, science, liberalism, and democracy. Its eightieth statement declared there was no reason any “Roman Pope” should ever have to “harmonize himself with progress . . . [or] recent civilization.”90

Syllabus was an unrelenting broadside condemning the modern world and held stubbornly to the notion that the church could thrive according to the standards of a bygone century.91 Its harsh tone was particularly startling since Pius understood the church’s history better than many of his predecessors. Some had hoped that Pius might revert to the reformer traits that marked his early Papacy. But Syllabus crushed such expectations. Antonelli knew that Western governments were dumbstruck by the denunciations of freedom of thought and of conscience.92 In private, he tried explaining away Pius’s anti-intellectual diatribe.93 But much in the same way that the kidnappings of the Jewish children had undermined the Pope’s moral standing, Syllabus undercut his intellectual integrity. Italian university students burned copies in protest. A few priests left their orders citing Syllabus. Secular newspapers trashed it.

As with the kidnappings, Pius dismissed all criticism. He boasted that Syllabus was a seminal pronouncement and the attacks only reinforced his view that he alone had been divinely selected to guide the church. Eventually, to settle any simmering internal dissent, he ordered all bishops and cardinals to Rome in 1869 to debate the church’s role in opposing rationalism. Seven hundred ninety-two made the journey.94 The First Vatican Council—held in the acoustically dreadful St. Peter’s—focused instead on whether a Pope’s authority had limits. After seven months of raucous debate a majority of the bishops voted in favor of a declaration that on all issues of faith the Pope could unilaterally invoke infallibility.95

But there was little time inside Pius’s inner circle to celebrate. The day after the infallibility vote France declared war on Prussia.96 The war was the ideal pretext for Napoleon to withdraw his garrison and leave Rome undefended.97 Pius pleaded in vain to other Catholic countries for help. None did. Appalled by the two kidnappings and convinced that the Pope was an obstructionist, no leaders had any incentive to risk the lives of their troops to save a Pontiff who was so incredibly at odds with modern society.

The Vatican was defended now by Zuavi Pontifici—Papal light infantry—several thousand young, unmarried Catholic volunteers from more than two dozen countries. Few thought the ragtag force could withstand a sustained assault. The Italian king sent an emissary who offered to spare the church a humiliating military defeat by pretending the nationalist army took control of Rome under the guise of protecting the Pontiff. The nationalists even offered to recognize Papal sovereignty, the right of the Vatican to have ambassadors, and to pay some money to offset the income the church had lost from the Papal States. Pius would hear none of it. Instead, he let loose with a vicious verbal assault. The King’s envoy was so shaken that in his rush to get away from Pius he almost walked out a third-story window instead of a door.98

Rebuffed by the Pope, Italian troops massed outside Rome. Pius could not be dissuaded of his delusion that no Italian army would dare attack Rome—a sacred city—so long as he was there.99 When nationalist troops breached the city’s outer perimeter, the Pope urged his garrison to resist the “vipers.”100 Rome fell in a day. The Pope ordered the white flag raised over St. Peter’s at 9:00 a.m. on September 20. For the first time in a millennium, the church had no sovereign seat of power. Its sixteen thousand square miles of feudal empire had been reduced to a tiny parcel of land.

To soften the blow, the new republic offered the Pope the Leonine City, a large Roman district around which the ninth-century Pope Leo IV commissioned the Leonine Wall. But Pius worried that if he agreed to anything it would imply he endorsed the legitimacy of Italy’s rule over his former kingdom.

Some cardinals and the Father Superior of the Jesuits advised that he flee and establish a Papacy in exile. Antonelli advised against abandoning Rome.101 Pius needed little persuasion. He quickly refused. His exile in Gaeta had been too unsettling. He felt too old at seventy-eight to leave Italy. And he had a different plan. Although Italian officials assured him he was free to come and go as he wanted, Pius declared himself the “prisoner of the Vatican”—a victim Pope—and remained shuttered inside St. Peter’s.102 He excommunicated those who had played key roles in the conquest of Rome. And when the new government wanted to move into the Quirinale—built in the sixteenth century as a Papal summer palace—Pius petulantly refused to hand over the keys.103

Pius and his advisors had every reason to resort to high theatrics: Italy’s unification was disastrous for the church. And to their great frustration, there was little they could do about it. As Antonelli feared, the seizure was more than just a blow to the Vatican’s prestige. The Papal States had included the Vatican’s wealthiest regions and almost all its population.104 Antonelli knew the loss meant the church was teetering on the verge of bankruptcy, some 20 million lire in debt.105 The situation would have been worse had Antonelli not secretly met with an Italian aristocrat, Baron Alberto Blanc, and through his efforts got Italy to return 5 million lire belonging to the Holy See, all in bank accounts seized by the secular government.106

Pius seemed oblivious to the bad news.VI He wanted money for a new militia of mercenaries to counter the nonexistent threat that Italian armies might appropriate the Vatican itself.108 He also thought it important to preserve the spectacle of the sumptuous Papal monarchy. Pius refused to dismiss any workers. And he insisted on paying salaries and pensions for officials who had been fired by the new Italian government, as well as for those who resigned out of loyalty to the Vatican. In less than a year, 15 percent of the church’s budget went to salaries of ex-employees of the Papal States.109

Antonelli knew it would take too long to raise money with another debt issue. After much debate, Pius and his advisors settled on an unexpected solution: to rekindle Peter’s Pence. It was a fundraising practice that had been popular a thousand years earlier with the Saxons in England (before Henry VIII had banned it). “Obolo di San Pietro” in Italian, “offerings from the faithful,” Peter’s Pence consisted not only of donations, but also of fees paid by loyal Catholics for services such as weddings, funerals, and confirmations.110 Special taxes levied during the Crusades were tallied as part of Peter’s Pence.111

In better times, the Vatican set aside money raised from Peter’s Pence only for extraordinary costs.112 Now it was needed to pay day-to-day operating expenses. Catholic journals, local churches, and even Catholic politicians throughout Europe, South America, and the United States pleaded to bail out the Pope. Not only did Pius need money to survive, the pitch went, but the church also required a professional army to protect what little it had left. Cash poured in. Austrian Archduke Maximilian and most of the French aristocracy gave generously. The poor and uneducated were induced to donate by tales that Italian inquisitors had chained the Pope to a prison wall. One fraud even sold samples of “Holy straw” from the nonexistent cell’s floor.113 Catholics in different countries competed with one another to see who could raise the most.114

The revival of Peter’s Pence was the first time ordinary Catholics felt as though they individually could help the “imprisoned” Pope. Pius adopted the unfamiliar mantle as a popular fundraiser. He acknowledged the most generous donations. The advent of photography allowed key contributors to receive signed pictures. And he doled out framed letters, personal benedictions, Papal titles of nobility, and knighthoods. The Italian ambassador to the United States noted, “Because they have no aristocracy, the Americans are particularly susceptible to this form of flattery.”115 Philadelphia’s Protestant Mellon family gave a large enough contribution to earn a Papal Marquis. Still, Antonelli knew it was not wise to fund the church on the hope that the faithful would steadily send in a lot of money. For the first three years of the reinstituted Peter’s Pence, the annual receipts covered on average just four months of the church’s annual deficit.116 Another of Antonelli’s ideas was to have European bishops appeal to Catholic worshippers for separate contributions—dubbed loan subscriptions—to pay down the Vatican’s outstanding debt. The bishop of Autun assured his congregants “The Pope is a good risk.”117

In Rome, Catholic financiers pitched more money-raising proposals to the Pope. Pius rejected one for a worldwide lottery to supplement Peter’s Pence. He judged it a volatile mixture of capitalism and gambling.118 And he also said no to the idea of capitalizing the remaining Papal properties throughout Europe so they could be leveraged to produce more revenue. Pius thought that violated Catholic doctrine forbidding business speculation.

Some of the Vatican resistance to capitalism was a leftover of Middle Age ideologies, a belief that the church alone was empowered by God to fight Mammon, a satanic deity of greed. And some doctrine, such as its ban on usury—earning interest on money loaned or invested—was based on a literal biblical interpretation.119,VII

Pius was especially distrustful of capitalism since he thought secular activists used it as a wedge to separate the church from its integrated role with the state. In some countries, the “capitalist bourgeoisie,” as the Vatican dubbed it, had even confiscated church land for public use.121 When leading Catholic banker André Langrand-Dumonceau went bankrupt in 1870 under the weight of too much debt, it further confirmed to the Pope that free market concepts were dangerous.122 Also behind the resistance to change was the church’s traditional view that capitalism was mostly the province of Jews. La Civiltà Cattolica regularly denounced the financial business as the evil dominion of Jews. Typical was this: “It [international Jewry] is the giant octopus that with its oversized tentacles envelops everything. It has its stomachs in the banks . . . and its suction cups everywhere. . . . It represents the kingdom of capital . . . the aristocracy of gold. . . . It reigns unopposed.”123

Running parallel with the ingrained anti-Semitism was a vituperative anti-Protestantism. Protestants did not promote capitalist principles, but certain Lutheran and Calvinist doctrines were receptive to the activities that collectively emerged as capitalism. Protestants embraced private ownership of property and the right to earn profits, and allowed borrowing and lending money as well as earning interest on it. German sociologist Max Weber contended that the surge of capitalism in northern Europe was a direct result of the tenets of Protestant Christianity. He tracked how the growth of Calvinism and Methodism ran parallel to the rise of capitalism in those countries.124 Protestants encouraged workers to find well-paying jobs and contended that employers should endeavor to provide decent working conditions.125 They invested in ventures for profit and then used those earnings for more investments.126 Catholic theology, in contrast, downplayed the rights of individuals, contending instead that workers should consider that one benefit of low paying work was that it contributed to the common good of fellow worshippers and the church. Vatican traditionalists condemned the capitalism that took hold in Protestant countries.127

But capitalism was only a financial philosophy. The more fundamental struggle among many nineteenth-century church philosophers was whether the Vatican should even be part of the modern world. The internal debate was fierce and long. Pius led the traditionalist camp. But in 1871, a new temporal crisis overshadowed that divisive argument. In May, under pressure from Italy’s enormous Catholic population, a divided parliament passed the Law of Papal Guarantees.128 It recognized the Pope as a “sovereign Pontiff,” granting him the same privileges as an Italian King; extended special territorial status to the Vatican and the Papal summer villa; and issued Vatican envoys immunities and honors. The law also exempted all church property from taxation and set aside an annual subsidy of 3,225,000 lire to help offset the income lost from the Papal States.129

The Pope detested the law, telling aides that it was a shameless effort to leave him a denuded figurehead with only a “royal palace.”130 It was not a treaty between equal partners, he contended, but a unilateral act that any future parliament could undo. Pius issued a hastily drafted encyclical repudiating the law and reiterating his demand that Italy instead restore the Papal States to the Vatican’s control.131 He warned the faithful that “wickedness” was afoot and that the guarantees were “unholy” and the government leaders who offered it were “stigmatized [by] their absurdity, cunning and mockery.”132 The Pope excommunicated more Italian officials he labeled as antichurch and even refused the annual subsidy—money the church needed desperately and for which Antonelli lobbied hard.133

Italy pressured the church. It seized dozens of monasteries and nunneries and converted them to government offices. In 1874, Italy banned mandatory religious classes in schools. It eliminated the exemption for the clergy serving in the military as well as abolishing the religious oath in courtrooms. And much to the Vatican’s fury, the state recognized civil marriages, an institution over which all Popes had insisted the Catholic Church alone had authority.134 Every time Pius lashed out with more invectives—he denigrated government ministers as everything from “monsters of hell” to “satellites of Satan in human flesh”—the state pushed back with more restrictive legislation. In 1876, parliament came short by only a few votes from passing a statute of Clerical Abuses that would have banned all political statements from the pulpit as well as abolishing the inviolable secrecy of the confessional.

Still, Pius refused to recognize the Italian state. Nor would the Pope allow Catholics to vote in national elections. Without a Catholic counterweight at the polls, the most anticlerical politicians were elected.

By the time the eighty-five-year-old Pius died in 1878, after a record thirty-two-year reign, devout Catholics revered him as an uncompromising Pope. And most of Italy’s leaders reviled him. Even his funeral was not free of drama. Hundreds of thousands turned out for his memorial procession. Army troops had to forcibly stop some in the crowd from snatching the coffin and tossing it into the Tiber River.135

Spies had penetrated the Vatican and reported back that some hard-line prelates were talking about boycotting “occupied Rome” for the Conclave of Cardinals to elect the new Pope. If they convened in another country, officials fretted it could lead to the first non-Italian Pope, someone who might be more aggressive than even Pius in challenging Italy’s sovereign claim to the Papal States. Italy sent a message to the senior cardinals: the government guaranteed not to meddle in the conclave, but if the cardinals held it elsewhere, they could never again gather in Rome. The clerics decided to stay in the Eternal City.136



I. Historians credit Johann Tetzel, a popular sixteenth-century Dominican priest and dispenser of indulgences, with the first advertising jingle: “As soon as the coin in the coffer rings, a soul from Purgatory springs.”11

II. The Holy See’s official directory lists thirty-nine antipopes and 265 Popes. Other sources list as many as forty-seven antipopes. An accurate count is difficult because standards for electing Popes changed frequently for more than a thousand years. Some Pontiffs were later classified as dissidents. The antipopes peaked during the twelfth to fifteenth centuries, with two or more antipopes sometimes claiming the Papacy.15

III. The Vatican issued the equivalent of bonds that paid between 5 and 8 percent interest. The Rothschilds bought the commercial paper from the church at a 75 percent discount. What they paid the Vatican constituted the loan. The Rothschilds then resold the paper as bonds to the public, with their profit being the difference between what they paid the church and the final sales price. The interest to the buyer was in the form of a discount from the full face value. That arrangement allowed the Vatican to maintain the farce that it followed scripture and did not earn or pay interest on its investments.56

IV. Antonelli was one of the last deacons to become a cardinal. Benedict XV, in 1917, ruled that only ordained priests could be cardinals. Many clerics never fully trusted Antonelli since he was not a priest, and many believed he was secretly a Freemason.64

V. In 1864, as the pressure on Rome increased, Pius defended the seizure of another Jewish boy. This time it was nine-year-old Giuseppe Coen, who lived in Rome’s ghetto. The church claimed the boy wanted to become a Catholic and had voluntarily sought out a priest. The public outcry was again fierce. European Catholics led by the French beseeched Pius to release Coen. He again ignored them.87

VI. Corrado Pallenberg, in a 1971 book, Vatican Finances, reported that Pius quipped, “Sarò forse infallibile, ma sono certamente fallito (I may be infallible, but I am certainly bankrupt).” There is no citation, however, and the author cannot find it in any previous history.107

VII. The ban on earning interest was not relaxed until the mid-1800s and not lifted entirely until the middle of World War I. As late as 1903, when Pius X became Pope, the anticapitalist theme continued in Sacrorum Antistitum (The Oath Against Modernism). That decree required all priests to swear an oath denouncing “Americanism,” something Pius considered an insidious slide toward modernism.120
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Enter the Black Nobles

Pius’s replacement, Perugia’s Cardinal Vincenzo Gioacchino Pecci, took the name Leo XIII. The sixty-eight-year-old Leo had none of Pius’s irascible and often volatile charisma. Even his longtime advisors considered him utterly uninspiring. Some insiders speculated that Leo prevailed on the conclave’s third ballot because he was the antithesis of his hot-tempered predecessor. Others thought he was a stopgap choice since he was reportedly in poor health and unlikely to be Pope long. Leo himself averred when elected that he was too old and feeble to handle the pressures of the Papacy.1

His reputation as a cardinal was a moderately conservative traditionalist. Leo had been born into an upper-middle-class family with some claim to nobility. He gave conflicting signals early on about whether he shared Pius’s taste for grandiose pomp. On the one hand, he was the first Pope to deem the traditional Papal apartment, adjacent to the throne room, too grand. He slept instead in a cavernous but spartan ground-floor room.2 But he also insisted that all visitors, including secular officials, kneel throughout any audience. Even top clerics were forbidden from sitting when addressing him.3

Leo was not long Pope before he learned that Pius had bequeathed to the Vatican about 30 million lire (the Popes from wealthy families often left the church their personal fortunes).4 It consisted of some gold, bank deposits, and unfortunately many uncollectible IOUs. As a result, Pius’s bequest did not make a dent in the church’s ravaged finances: Leo had inherited a 45 million lire deficit. Although Peter’s Pence had paid many operating expenses for a decade, nothing had been done to trim costs or reduce the staggering debt.5 And even more startling was that the mess seemed the fault of the unassailable late Secretary of State and chief of the Treasury, Giacomo Antonelli.6 He had passed away two years before Pius. It was only now that Leo learned of the grim consequences of the unfettered autonomy Cardinal Antonelli had wielded. Antonelli had accumulated great personal wealth while the Vatican’s assets plunged. He had ennobled his middle-class family. His four brothers had been made Papal Counts. One, Luigi, was the administrator of the Pontifical Railroads. Gregorio attended to church affairs outside the Vatican. And his eldest brother, Filippo, made a sizable fortune after he was nominated as a governor of the reorganized state-owned Banca Romana, the capital’s first savings bank.7 Antonelli had directed many of the sixty families of the Black Nobles—aristocratic Catholics who stayed loyal to the Pope when Italian troops seized Rome in 1870—to his brother’s bank.8 With Antonelli dead, Italian aristocrats and businessmen disclosed that he had rebuffed their pleas to invest Peter’s Pence in conservative ventures.9 Instead, he had deployed a network of Papal nuncios to sell precious collectibles donated by the faithful and smuggled the money out of Italy.10 His final will left the bulk of his estate—623,341 gold francs—to his brothers and nephews. Some gems were bequeathed to the Vatican museum, and as for the Pope, Antonelli left him only his own desk crucifix.11 The coup de grâce came when a young countess, Loreta Lambertini, stepped forward and claimed she was the cardinal’s illegitimate daughter and was entitled to a share of the property, palaces, and gold he had amassed.12

Leo felt compelled to entertain bold measures to strengthen the church’s anemic balance sheet. It was not long before he approved the church’s first ever, albeit limited, interest-bearing loans. The Pope soon learned that simply changing the rules did not guarantee success. His unsophisticated clerical advisors—without any financial training—did not insist on collateral for the first round of loans they issued. Instead they based their decisions solely on the name of the penurious aristocrat borrowing the money. In the first year of Leo’s reign more than a million lire in loans were written off as worthless debts.13

The bad results prompted the Pope to immerse himself in the basics of lending. He insisted that, going forward, he review each loan. And he reserved final approval for all real estate deals, soliciting Peter’s Pence, and raising cash from pilgrimages. Leo’s advisors considered his micromanagement unnecessary and his incessant meddling time-consuming. But his fear they were incompetent kept him from giving them more authority. Leo also worried about thievery. He kept much of the church’s spare cash, jewelry, and gold in large trunks stacked in his enormous bedroom.14

The Pope flirted with buying a small newspaper network dedicated to battling Freemasonry.15 But before the deal closed, the Catholic bank and financiers who had pitched the proposal went bust. That convinced him that instead of putting the church’s money at risk in a business venture, it was safer in real estate. Starting in the 1880s, he ordered that most of Peter’s Pence be invested through silent partnerships into Roman property. Leo caught the early stages of a massive speculative building boom.16 The spiraling property prices brought tremendous profits. Many Black Nobles became rich just by investing their own money into the same projects the church chose.17 A handful of those men used their wealth to fund the start-up Banco di Roma (Bank of Rome).18 They then convinced the risk-averse Pontiff to make a sizable investment in the bank. The Vatican also followed the bank’s lead in buying shares in Rome’s trolley system as well as a controlling stake of a British-owned company that supplied water to the capital.19 Subsequently, when Italian aristocrats took loans from the church, they often provided their shares in the Bank of Rome as collateral, further binding the church and the bank.

Leo turned out to be more successful at stabilizing the church’s finances than he was at quelling the deteriorating political turmoil between the church and Italy. A succession of left-wing, anticlerical administrations passed laws hostile to the Vatican, exacerbating Leo’s mistrust of secular government. One statute abolished an obligation that Italian farmers pay the Vatican a tithe. Another authorized the confiscation of some church assets. The tension between church and state grew so fierce that Leo decided to abandon Rome and govern the church in exile from France. But just as Italian officials had been warned eight years earlier when the cardinals considered moving the conclave from Rome, informants tipped them off about Leo’s plans. Italy gave the Pope an ultimatum: if he left he could never return. Leo and his advisors stayed put. The episode caused great concern inside the Papal Court that secular spies had penetrated it. So Leo consolidated authority in an ever-smaller group of long-standing clerical aides.20

The decision to stay in Rome meant the Pope was there to witness firsthand the great property crash of 1887. The Bank of Rome, in which the Vatican was a major investor, suffered huge losses. The church itself was badly damaged, losing about a third of its capital in less than a year.21 Leo disclaimed any responsibility for the debacle. Monsignor Enrico Folchi, who held a senior position in the Vatican’s finances for eleven years, got blamed. The Pontiff unceremoniously dismissed him. Many inside the Papal Court, however, felt as though Folchi was a convenient scapegoat.

Folchi’s replacement was Monsignor (later Cardinal) Mario Mocenni, a cleric with a reputation as a fiscal conservative.22 Soon after taking office he indicated that he might be more willing than his predecessors to experiment with modern financial techniques: “If money had a religion, it would be Jewish, but fortunately it doesn’t have one, as a result of which it can be venerated by everybody.”23 Mocenni sent some of the church’s gold and cash to the Rothschilds for safekeeping in Paris, the first time they were again involved with the Vatican since Pius IX had unceremoniously cut them off in 1860.24

Monsignor Mocenni was soon overshadowed by a layman, Ernesto Pacelli.I. Pacelli had become the president of the Bank of Rome in the aftermath of the real estate bust. His sage and conservative stewardship stopped the bank’s hemorrhaging and led quickly to a profitable resurgence. As the property crash played out, Pacelli and Leo had met regularly and developed a good friendship. By 1891, Leo had overcome enough of his anxiety about possible government spies to allow Pacelli to become his most trusted lay confidant. Pacelli was wise to the Machiavellian politics of the Papal Court. He assiduously doled out favors—ranging from generous Bank of Rome loans to prestigious directorships in private companies—to dozens in the Pope’s entourage. As the bank’s president, Pacelli also counted as friends many senior Italian government ministers. That allowed him the opportunity to act as an unofficial mediator between the Vatican and the often belligerent Italian state. Pacelli managed to persuade Italy’s officials to refrain from passing more punitive laws against the church while convincing Leo to dial back his antigovernment rhetoric and threats of excommunication.

Most European governments wanted some assurance that Leo would distance himself from the reactionary tone set by his predecessor’s Syllabus. They were tired of the standoff between church and state. During the early years of his Papacy Leo had taken small but encouraging steps that raised the expectations of reformers. He reopened the Vatican’s abandoned observatory and appointed an astronomer, not a priest, to run it. With a single decree he eliminated the eunuchs who for centuries had sung in the Sistine Chapel.25 And he surprised academics and historians by opening some of the Vatican archives, even to non-Catholics.26

Those small reforms were soon forgotten when Leo reaffirmed Pius’s ban on Catholics participating in Italian elections. Pacelli had failed to convince Leo that the ban was counterproductive since it sacrificed any influence the church might have in the new Italy. Allowing Catholics to vote, the Pope feared, would implicitly acknowledge the legitimacy of the secular government. Leo demanded, as had Pius, nothing short of a full restoration of the Papal States. And he naively thought he could convince Germany, Austria, and France to support his bid. Pacelli, who had far more real-world experience than the cloistered Leo, told him that was unrealistic. That did not dissuade the Pope, who tried escalating the restoration of the Papal States into a pressing international issue. Leo tried putting what by then was called the “Roman Question” on the agenda at a conference of Western countries in The Hague. After ten months of aggressive lobbying, the Vatican could not even get an invitation.

Pacelli cited the diplomatic missteps to argue that the church’s strength was not in secular diplomacy but instead in the power and independence of its finances. He urged the Pontiff to be more open-minded about free enterprise. The Pope initially seemed resistant when he condemned unrestrained capitalism in several encyclicals. But Pacelli influenced Leo’s most famous edict, Rerum Novarum (On the New Things), a not very subtle effort to stem the surge of socialism and militant Marxism. In that encyclical—for the first time—although the church condemned capitalism’s exploitation of workers, it backed the right to a decent wage, better working conditions, and even trade unions. (Rerum earned Leo the nickname “the worker’s Pope.”)27

Pacelli also asked the Pontiff to make some modest investments in banks, construction firms, and utility companies. He argued that it did not constitute capitalist behavior since those were essential industries that allowed average Catholics to live comfortably. Whether the Pope believed that or simply needed a credible justification for saying yes, he agreed.28 By the start of the twentieth century, the Vatican had gone so far as to open forty-four small Catholic banks throughout Italy, all dedicated to providing Catholic workers a trusted place in which to deposit their earnings. Those church-owned banks even offered a few limited loans to the faithful.29 And in keeping with his encyclical trumpeting workers’ rights, Leo opened the first of what would become a national network of social and economic cooperatives to help Italy’s poorest workers. There were soon Catholic-sponsored peasant leagues, workers’ unions, and food cooperatives.30

Those tentative steps toward embracing modern financial practices made Leo stand out from the regressive isolation of his predecessor. But in the final years of his Papacy, Leo reversed course and became increasingly intolerant, destroying whatever goodwill he had earned. Over a dark eighteen-month stretch he reaffirmed Syllabus, spoke out against the separation of church and state, condemned freedom of the press and religious tolerance, and reiterated the medieval philosophy of Thomas Aquinas that only those who accepted Catholicism could be productive.31 He rebuffed all appeals to reverse the Papal ban on Catholics serving in government.32

Leo even questioned whether there was any intrinsic value in democracy. He bitterly denounced so-called Americanism, the U.S.-based movement to modernize Catholicism.33 In just over a century, the number of Catholics in America had soared from thirty thousand to more than six million, largely because of a surge in Italian and Irish immigrants. There was great promise for the church in the New World. But Leo and many Roman clerics opposed pluralism. America’s separation of church and state, combined with its embrace of personal liberty and unfettered individual capitalism, rankled the Vatican. It was heresy, concluded Leo, to allow any secular state to develop without the integral involvement of the church at every stage.34 The best form of government, concluded the Pope, was a benevolent monarchy (which conveniently included a Papal empire).35

By the end of his Papacy, Leo was every bit as reactionary as Pius.

The “frail” Leo, elected in part because some cardinals considered him a stopgap Pontiff who would have a short reign, died in 1903 at the age of ninety-three. During his quarter century as Pope, he had outlived many of the cardinals who had voted for him. Inside the Vatican, there was almost a palpable relief at Leo’s passing. He seemed, even to those who liked him, too old and out of touch. The church was just a few years into a new century. And as the cardinals began arriving in Rome to elect a new Pope, there was widespread consensus that the next Pontiff should be different. The problem was that no one could agree on which quality was most important. That promised a wide-open conclave.



I. Ernesto’s cousin Eugenio joined the priesthood. He rose to become the Vatican’s Undersecretary of State, then in 1920 the Papal Nuncio to Germany, before being elevated to Cardinal Secretary of State in 1930. In 1939, Eugenio Pacelli was elected Pope Pius XII.
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“Merely a Palace, Not a State”

The selection of every Pope has meant behind-the-scenes intrigue and heavy politicking. Up until the sixth century, the horse-trading began before the sitting Pope was even dead. And during the Middle Ages, a few aristocratic Italian families got together and ate and drank until they had agreed on a new Pontiff. The gathering after Leo’s death was not marked by any of the fistfights, threats, and bribes that had been a hallmark of some notorious conclaves.1 But it turned out to be the last assembly of cardinals in which Catholic European powers affected the outcome. France, Spain, and Austria had wielded an effective veto power for more than a hundred years. After Leo’s death, Vienna blacklisted the odds-on favorite, the dead Pope’s powerful Secretary of State, Cardinal Rampolla del Tindaro.2 They considered him too cozy with the French. That opened the door to Venetian Cardinal Giuseppe Sarto, whose best quality seemed to be that he was not closely identified with any of Leo’s mostly unpopular policies. After ten ballots, he emerged as the Pope and chose the name Pius X.3

The new Pius had served nearly twenty years as a parish priest before beginning his ascent to the Papacy. He had a well-deserved reputation as ultraconservative, humble, and disciplined. His longtime aides warned others that he was also a great pessimist. Pius’s Papal motto—“to restore all things in Christ”—indicated he considered that religious obligations always trumped secular ones.4 Black Nobles worried that as the first modern Pope from a simple working-class family, he might not appreciate the pomp of the grand Papacy. They were right. He was not inclined to dole out lavish favors and princely gifts to either his friends or those serving in the Papal Court. When one aristocrat suggested he elevate his own sisters to Papal Countesses, he dismissed him. “They are sisters of the Pope, what more can I do for them?”5

Other small changes signaled a populist touch. For the first time, the Pope’s secretaries dined with him. And he permitted lay Catholics to sit in his presence, changing the centuries-old imperative that they kneel. Kissing his slipper was no longer allowed. He claimed that the sedia gestatoria—an ornate, portable ceremonial throne—made him dizzy. The new Pius ended the requirement that everyone applaud whenever he entered St. Peter’s. And he took strolls in the Vatican gardens on his own instead of being surrounded, as had Leo, with a retinue of Noble Guards.6

Besides stripping away some of the gilded obsequiousness attached to the Papacy, he also tried to streamline the chaotic web of the Roman Curia. The Vatican’s bureaucracy had grown over centuries to consist of often redundant congregations, offices, and tribunals, many of them tainted by huge financial waste and nepotism.7 Although the church was international, the Curia was almost entirely Italian. To outsiders it seemed oppressively complex and marked by a lethargic work ethic.8 After the loss of the Papal States, the Curia defied logic by expanding instead of shrinking. Pius ordered it to reduce its thirty-seven departments to nineteen.9 Reforming the Curia however was not as simple as issuing a few directives. Those with entrenched power resented that Pius was one of the first Popes never to have worked in the Curia. They were determined from the outset to undermine any major reorganization. “Popes come and go,” was the unofficial motto inside the Curia, “but we go on forever.”10 Their resistance took the form of pretending to undertake most of the reductions. The career bureaucrats shuffled jobs between various offices and also folded some small departments into larger ones. Only insiders knew that the window dressing belied the fact that little had changed.11

Believing that the Curia was reforming itself, Pius turned his attention elsewhere: how best to stem the growing popularity of a movement of clerics and lay philosophers who challenged traditional Catholic dogma on everything from interpreting the Old Testament to whether the church should embrace democracy. So-called modernists—dubbed that since they collectively wanted the church to adapt itself to the changes of a new world—urged widespread reform and liberalization.12 The modernist movement had gained momentum while Leo was still Pope, but he had rebuffed it by reaffirming the reactionary Syllabus. Now, some modernists appealed to the new Pontiff, hoping he might be more receptive. But those familiar with his tenure as Venice’s cardinal knew it was unlikely. Pius was a conservative pastor, without any formal education. He was not in the least sympathetic to modernism.

“These people expect to be treated with oil, soap and embraces,” Pius said. “What they need—and what they will get—is a good fist.”13 He gave them a “good fist” by releasing an encyclical, Lamentabili Sane (Lamentable Certainly), a rambling condemnation of the liberalization movement.14 Pius followed that by creating a clerical committee in every diocese across Europe to guard against the perversion of the faith. For the first time in its history, the church deployed the equivalent of a secret police, relying on informers to uncover modernists and those who secretly supported them.15 Anonymous denunciations were encouraged. No one was spared. The cardinals of Vienna and Paris as well as the rectors of several top Catholic universities were denounced among the hundreds who were purged (even Archbishop Giacomo Della Chiesa—who would become the next Pope—was investigated for suspicion of “doctrinal deviance”).16 Pius required that all priests take an antimodernist oath (it was in place until Pope Paul VI eliminated it in 1967).17 He lowered to seven from twelve as the age at which children made their first confession and received communion. That would help priests monitor any youngster who might be entertaining modern thoughts.18

Beyond ferreting out suspected sympathizers, the crackdown expanded to net scholars whose work the simple Pius viewed with suspicion. Encouraged by the Pope, the church moved more aggressively than ever to ban books it considered dangerous. The works of acclaimed modernist scholars such as Ernesto Buonaiuti and Alfred Loisy were transferred to the Index Librorum Prohibitorum (Index of Prohibited Books). Writers who refused to be silenced, like George Tyrell, were excommunicated.I And the Pope stacked the Vatican’s Biblical Commission with regressive prelates who recommended the suspension of the entire theological faculties at leading Swiss and French institutes and universities.20

A Pope with such a backward view of the world did little to modernize how the Vatican’s financial advisors operated.21 He relied on Pacelli, who told him that the church was solvent although money was tight. Yet the Pope’s innate pessimism meant that no matter how many times Pacelli reassured him, he fretted about being short of money. In his first year, he even shuttered the tiny zoo in the Vatican’s gardens as he feared it too great a financial drain.

Pius’s dark mood lifted somewhat when early in his tenure Pacelli informed him that Peter’s Pence contributions had set a record.22 The upsurge in cash was an unintended consequence of the Pope’s unyielding rejection of secularism and his refusal to cooperate with other faiths. It seemed that ordinary Catholics loved when the Pontiff brooked no compromise in those high-profile squabbles. In France, Prime Minister Émile Combes, a lapsed Catholic who had become a Freemason, was instrumental in passing the Law of Separation. It removed Catholicism as the country’s official religion. Pius responded by suspending diplomatic relations with France, which had long been the church’s closest ally.23 When the Portuguese also separated church and state, Pius castigated them. Much to the irritation of Britain, he backed Ireland’s Catholics. He angered Germans by issuing an encyclical praising a saint who had fought against the Protestant Reformation. And Russia was miffed by his aggressive efforts to energize Catholics there.24 He even once refused to grant an audience to Teddy Roosevelt because he thought the ex-President had insulted Catholicism by visiting Methodist and Masonic groups in Rome. The widespread press coverage of his slight to Roosevelt caused contributions to spike again.25

The flood of cash had a liberating effect on the miserly Pontiff. Cardinal Pietro Gasparri, Secretary of State to two Popes, had once said, “The Vatican, even with its gardens, is merely a palace, not a state.”26 Although Pius shared with his predecessors the unrealistic desire to restore the Papal States, he felt that the church had to make the mini-state it called home grander. He was confident he had sufficient resources from the surge in Peter’s Pence. Pius nearly doubled the Vatican’s size by purchasing adjacent properties, including the Italian Mint. A single building to house the new Pontifical Biblical Institute cost a then record 400,000 lire.27 Having given up on streamlining the bureaucracy, Pius added three Roman palaces for more office space for the Curia.28

Physical expansion was only one way the Pope intended to enhance the church’s stature. He spent millions more building churches throughout Italy to accommodate the growing Catholic population.29 And when a major earthquake ravaged some Italian towns in 1908, Pius used the disaster to demonstrate that the church was as effective as the state in helping the victims.30 The faithful rewarded his activism with more than 6 million lire in additional contributions.31

Pius had a tremendous mistrust of secular politicians. Those misgivings were amplified as Italy’s socialists gained popular support. They were a hodgepodge of disparate groups, inspired partly by Karl Marx, and consisting of a loose affiliation of peasant leagues, worker’s cooperatives, trade unions, and political activists. Many were allied with anarchists. Their movement had little room for God and none for organized religion.32 As the cardinal of Venice, Pius had rallied the city’s Catholics to form an alliance with political liberals to oppose the socialists. Now, as Pope, socialism’s surge so alarmed him that it trumped his antiquated opposition to modernity. He lifted the church’s ban on Catholics voting in and running for public office.33 The result was dramatic. Catholics were elected to the Italian parliament in 1904 and 1909. And so many were victorious in 1913 that they blocked a socialist takeover of the Italian legislature.34

Pius also reached an arrangement with Italy to give the church an unrestricted right to buy and sell property.35 Before then Black Nobles helped the Vatican circumvent complicated Italian laws about the acquisition and inheritance of real estate and other assets. Pius now agreed the church would no longer hide its investments through proxies.36

Bankers like Pacelli became ever more important as the laws about the church’s role in business became less restrictive. Besides being the president of the Banco di Roma, Pacelli was also a Roman city councilor and on the board of some of Italy’s most successful companies. And he had forged strong relationships with prelates inside the Curia. Pius trusted him, as did powerful cardinals, such as Merry del Val and Vives y Tuto, the respective Secretaries of State, and the Inquisition.37 Pacelli convinced Pius to invest millions to help the Bank of Rome expand its operations to Egypt, then a British colony.38 By 1913, half of the Vatican’s income came from interest earned on its giant stake in Pacelli’s bank.

The banker diversified the Vatican’s holdings, making small investments in Italian gas and electric companies, French banks, Swiss railways, and even a few stocks in Italy, Germany, and Spain.39 Pacelli was the president of Italy’s only film producer. Although the Pope was suspicious of the new medium and had issued several decrees banning priests from seeing films, no church official complained when Pacelli invested some Vatican money in the new technology.40

But there was a limit to what Pius would do for Pacelli. One of the Bank of Rome’s directors, Marchese Alberto Theodoli, was also a Black Noble. He asked Pius to transfer whatever money the Vatican still had on deposit with the Rothschilds to the Bank of Rome. Pius refused. The Pope told Theodoli and Pacelli that whenever previous Popes had moved the Church’s money away from the safekeeping of Jews to the control of Christians, it turned into a disaster.41 But that was a minor disagreement compared to the quarrel they had about Italy’s invasion to expand its African empire by seizing Libya from Turkey in 1911. The Bank of Rome provided the money for a consortium of Italian companies that hoped to exploit Libya’s rich oil and mineral deposits by converting the country into Italy’s colonial “fourth shore.” The bank financed everything from uniforms to supplies for the army.42 Pacelli also poured money into the country, investments that would only flourish in the wake of an Italian military victory.43 He lobbied Pius to endorse Italy’s fight for the colony as justified. And he did persuade a few cardinals to ratify the campaign as a battle of civilizations between Christianity and Islam. But Pius refused. He told Pacelli that he would not abandon the Vatican’s long-standing policy of neutrality. The church’s strength, Pius argued, was its impartiality. “In ancient times,” Pius lamented, “the Pope with a word might have stopped the slaughter, but now I am powerless.”44

But Pacelli was persistent. He beseeched the Pope for a Vatican endorsement of the Libyan expedition. Since patriotic Italians facing war flooded the Vatican with contributions, Pacelli cited that as evidence of the war’s popularity and that it had unintended benefits for the church.45 Pacelli never shared with the Pontiff that the church was at significant risk should the Bank of Rome stumble in its Libyan venture.46 Eventually, so irritated by Pacelli’s refusal to accept a simple no, the Holy See began distancing itself from him. Pacelli was surprised to discover that he suddenly had to make an appointment through Pius’s private secretary. Next, their weekly meeting was canceled. The harder Pacelli tried recouping his influence, the more Pius pushed him further away. Pacelli’s entrenched foes, jealous of his friendship with the Pope and covetous of his power, began a whisper campaign attacking his character. Leading cardinals who had been his friends did nothing to help him. After twenty years as the chief lay advisor to two Pontiffs, Pacelli was finally without influence. His fall was so great that when Pius was on his deathbed in a couple of years, a Papal chamberlain turned him away.



I. The Index Librorum Prohibitorum was active from 1559 until Pope Paul VI eliminated it in 1966. Catholics could be excommunicated for owning or reading the banned books. The Koran and Talmud were prohibited. More than 3,000 authors and 5,200 books were banned over the centuries. The writers ranged from ancient ones such as Aristotle and Plato to philosophers such as Voltaire and Kant to novelists such as Hugo and Balzac. Sometimes, seemingly objectionable books never got listed, such as Charles Darwin’s work about evolution, The Origin of Species, and Adolf Hitler’s Mein Kampf.19
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An Unholy Alliance

The seventy-nine-year-old Pius died on August 20, 1914, having lived just long enough to see the outbreak of World War I. By the time the cardinals began gathering for their conclave, the Germans had captured Brussels and were within thirty miles of Paris. The Russians had advanced into East Prussia. Thousands had died in major battles. Pressured by their own governments and spurred by nationalism, the French, German, and Austrian cardinals arrived in Rome each promoting their own partisan as the next Pope. They also had compiled short lists of cardinals they intended to oppose at all costs.

After ten rancorous ballots Bologna’s Cardinal della Chiesa, a long shot, emerged to become Benedict XV.1 After deadlocking on more partisan choices, a majority overcame the German and Austrian objections and coalesced around the moderate della Chiesa. Having endured Pius’s brutal modernist purge, the cardinals settled on a leader they hoped could guide the church through the war without becoming mired in the often debilitating internal theological battles waged by traditionalists on reformers. The diminutive, thin Genovese aristocrat—his nickname was Picoletto (tiny one)—not only had a reputation as a Francophile but he had been a cardinal for only three months.2

Judging by his appearance, it did not seem that Benedict could match Pius’s unrelenting fire. A childhood accident had left him with only one working eye and ear. His voice was high-pitched. One shoulder was noticeably higher than the other, and he had a halting limp and an ashen complexion. “I am but an ugly gargoyle on the beauties of Rome,” he commented once about his demeanor.3

Benedict promptly set to mark the Papacy as his own. He dismissed his strongest rival, the British-educated Spaniard Cardinal Merry del Val, giving the Secretary of State just enough time to clean out his desk.4 And he kept Pacelli ostracized but also shunned the advice of other senior advisors he inherited. A fresh start appealed to Benedict—especially since he faced navigating the church through the uncertainty of a worldwide war. The conflict battered the church’s balance sheet. Peter’s Pence contributions from warring nations like France and Belgium plummeted.5 After Italy declared war against Germany in 1916, donations from German Catholics also tumbled.

The crisis created by the plunging revenues was exacerbated by Benedict, who turned out to be a spendthrift.6 He yearned for the days of a majestic Papacy. Some of his directives—such as reinstalling the right of lay Catholics to kiss his slippers and again banning anyone from eating with the Pope—came at no cost. But to restore the pomp that predecessors had eliminated was expensive.7 And since he relied on the mediocre advice of a few handpicked cardinals who had little better business sense than he, the Vatican had trouble figuring out how to stem the hemorrhaging.8 Compounding the problem was that the church’s fixed costs had soared as the buying power of the lira had nose-dived due to hyperinflation.9 Only a year after becoming Pope, Benedict had trouble paying even the salaries of his court.10

Unaware of the church’s own dismal finances, when the Bank of Rome got squeezed in a credit crunch, its chairman, Count Carlo Santucci, a devout Black Noble, beseeched Benedict for a bailout. Santucci was the Pope’s own pick to replace Pacelli as the bank’s chief. He convinced the cash-strapped Benedict that the best way to protect the church’s stake in the bank was to invest more money. The Vatican scrounged up 9 million lire, with which it could ill afford to part.11 But the infusion was not enough. Halfway through the war, the Vatican’s 42.5 million lire equity in the Bank of Rome was worth less than 15 million.12 And it lost millions more in trying to save several regional Catholic banks.

Benedict had no better luck in misguided efforts to bolster five leading Italian Catholic dailies.13 They had lost advertisers during the war and the cost of paper and ink had risen steeply. During peacetime, they had eked out small profits, but the war brought debt of some 8 million lire. A couple teetered on the verge of bankruptcy. The Vatican did not want to use its own money, instead asking American bishops for a long-term, low-interest-rate loan of $500,000. But since the U.S. church was in the middle of its own financial crunch, the American bishops declined.14 Benedict had no choice but to dissolve the centralized financial hierarchy that ran the newspapers. The Pope reluctantly approved a long-term loan of nearly 2 million lire and also convinced another Black Noble, Count Giovanni Grosoli, to forgive some remaining debts he had previously advanced.15

Benedict fared little better politically than he did financially. He lobbied through intermediaries to prevent Italy from joining the Allies (Britain, France, and Russia). Catholic newspapers argued that joining the war was bad for the country (those “stay neutral” pleas were covertly subsidized by a German diplomat based in Rome).16 At one stage the Pope thought he had brokered a deal by which Austria would abandon its claim to its former Italian territories in return for Italy staying neutral. That deal fell through.17

Benedict knew he had few good options. Italy and the Austro-Hungarian Empire were crucial Catholic bastions. That they might fight each other was distressing enough. Benedict agonized publicly about “the monstrous spectacle of this war with its streams of Christian blood.”18 But equally sobering was the thought that only one could be victorious. A loss by the Austrians could weaken their role as a wall against Russian Orthodoxy. And if Italy joined the Allies and lost, social instability might spread throughout the country. Although Benedict had no love for Rome’s secular government, he realized the possibility of widespread civil unrest in the wake of a defeat would be terrible for the Vatican.

Benedict failed to get Italy to stay neutral. The Italians declared war on Germany and joined the Allies in 1915. That did not change the Allied view that the Pope was unabashedly pro-German.19 British intelligence had confirmed that Benedict had authorized purchases of so-called Italian War Loans that raised money for the war.20 And the Allies had also learned that Benedict believed that Germany and Austria-Hungary—the Central Powers—would prevail. His conviction was so strong that he approved a substantial Vatican investment in Austrian stocks, a decision that resulted in sharp losses.21 The Allies also knew that the Vatican rented one of its Roman properties to an arms manufacturer that supplied the Germans (when the British eventually leaked that to the press, the church feigned shock, claiming it was not aware of its tenant’s business).22

Even the Allies did not know the extent of the Vatican’s secret connection to the Central Powers. Germany was covertly funneling cash to the church through Swiss banks and labeling it “Peter’s Pence.”23 That helped stabilize the church’s finances. The German Foreign Ministry separately sent the Vatican cash from a propaganda slush fund. And the Austrians joined with a clandestine subsidy to Benedict.24 Besides the secret payments, Matthias Erzberger, the head of Germany’s Catholic Center Party, raised money for the Vatican from German businesses and wealthy industrialists. So pleased was the Pope with the large donation Erzberger presented to him in 1915 that the Pontiff thanked him with special gifts and a Papal decoration.25

In January 1917, Italian authorities charged Monsignor Rudolf Gerlach, a Papal chamberlain, as a German spy.26 The Vatican, tipped off to Gerlach’s imminent arrest, whisked him from Italy to Switzerland. Several lay co-conspirators were put on trial and found guilty, while Gerlach was convicted in absentia and sentenced to life.27 Benedict was shocked, by all accounts, that someone he trusted had acted both as a German paymaster for covert operations as well as passing secret communications through the Vatican’s diplomatic pouches.28,I The Gerlach episode fueled rumors across Italy that the Pope had struck a secret deal with the Central Powers to return to the church most of the Papal States after the war.30

The Pontiff released a seven-point peace plan on August 1, 1917, three years into the war.31 Benedict and his Secretary of State, Cardinal Gasparri, thought it would make the church a key mediator for peace. But the Allies ignored it, having long ago decided to snub any Papal entreaties for ceasing hostilities. America had entered the conflict only four months before Benedict released his plan. With the United States in the war, the Allies felt even more confident to disregard the Vatican. Some mocked the plan’s generalities: “We have never ceased to urge the belligerent peoples and Governments to become brothers once more.” Even the Central Powers derided as naive and impractical Benedict’s call for countries to disarm after the war.32 The Papal peace overture was such a flop that it only further weakened the church’s influence.33

Although the Allies ignored the Pope, since they considered him pro-German, many Catholics in war-torn Europe thought he had abandoned them by failing to endorse either side (a French priest in Paris reflected a common sentiment, “Holy Father we do not want your peace”).34 When Italy’s army was routed at Caporetto in November 1917, Italians blamed the Pontiff for spreading “defeatism.”35 As the war stretched on, donations to the church kept declining. The annual pilgrimages to St. Peter’s dried up and large-scale Papal audiences—used by the Vatican as fundraising events—disappeared.

The nadir for Benedict’s diplomatic influence came when the Allies refused to allow the Vatican to be included in the 1919 Paris Peace Conference.36 When the war had begun, Benedict’s main worry was that Russian Orthodoxy might seep westward. The Bolshevik Revolution during the middle of the war meant now that hostilities were over, the threat from Russia had dramatically changed. The hard-line Russian communists were equal-opportunity atheists, zealously eradicating temples, churches, and synagogues and promising to export their godless revolution around the globe.37

Not long after the war ended a small cadre of clerical advisors insisted to Benedict that finances, not politics, be paramount. Since he had become Pope, the church had lost almost 60 million lire—about 40 percent of its capital—on a broad range of soured investments.38 Years of war had left much of Europe ravaged and millions of Catholics faced high unemployment and a great recession.39 Distressed congregants in Germany, Austria, and Hungary were clamoring for financial aid from the Vatican.40

The only positive glimmer was that French Catholics somehow managed to increase their donations in the run-up to Joan of Arc’s highly publicized canonization. Forty thousand French pilgrims came to Rome for the ceremony.41 But it was not enough. The Vatican’s crisis forced it to open its books in 1919 to the Italian government to avoid cash-strapped bureaucrats from taxing the church’s income.42

To avert an even worse financial crunch, Benedict dispatched Monsignor (later Cardinal) Bonaventura Cerretti to America to plead for a million-dollar loan from the American branch of the church.43 The secretary of the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops dubbed Cerretti’s trip a “begging mission.”44 The U.S. bishops again refused, but they arranged for the Knights of Columbus—an influential Catholic men’s service society—to give the Pope a substantial gift of $250,000.45 American dollars were especially valuable as they had appreciated nearly 90 percent against the lira during the war.46

Money problems continued front and present when the sixty-eight-year-old Benedict unexpectedly died from complications from influenza in January 1922. The church was in such dire straits that Secretary of State Gasparri had to arrange another Rothschild loan to pay for Benedict’s lavish funeral, the ensuing Conclave of Cardinals, and the coronation of the next Pope.47

•  •  •

It took a grueling fourteen ballots at the ensuing conclave before the cardinals settled on another compromise, Milan’s sixty-five-year-old Cardinal Achille Ratti. He became Pius XI. Ratti was the son of a Milanese factory manager. An ex-archivist in the Vatican Library, the bookish Ratti had dual doctorates in theology and canon law. As a voracious reader and scholar, he likely had a better appreciation of the historical and political significance of the Papacy than most of his predecessors.48

Pius was short, thickset, softly spoken, and charming. He also had a well-deserved reputation for a volatile temper.49 His aides knew he demanded absolute obedience. In meetings his intense questioning at times made him seem like a prosecutor. Once apprised of the church’s fiscal mess, he ordered its first-ever internal audit. He slashed the size of the Papal Court and cut some of what he deemed unnecessary pomp that Benedict had reinstituted. Pius appointed Signora Linda, his longtime maid, to supervise the Vatican’s large housekeeping staff. When told that no Pope had ever allowed a woman to work or live inside the Vatican, he replied: “Then I shall be the first.”50

Money woes weren’t the only matters occupying his early tenure. Political upheaval gripped Italy. The country’s parliamentary coalition was in trouble, with the traditional liberal and conservative blocs deadlocked. Leftist militants were gaining momentum, and there was an upsurge from the radical right’s National Fascist Party. Fascist paramilitary squads had targeted Catholic social institutions in central and northern Italy and had also besieged the powerful Catholic Partito Popolare Italiano (Italian People’s Party) with a venomous propaganda campaign. All the chaos culminated only eight months after Pius’s election with the “March on Rome.” Tens of thousands of armed fascists converged on the capital to demonstrate their political clout. After a tense one-week standoff with the King and the elected government, the fascist leader, Benito Mussolini, was sworn in as Prime Minister.51

Before Mussolini’s unexpected ascent, Pius had rejected any accommodation with fascism. There seemed to be little room for compromise with a man who was an avowed atheist, had written a pamphlet titled God Does Not Exist, and had once suggested to a newspaper that the Pope should leave Rome.52 Il Duce (the leader)—the name Mussolini preferred—climbed to power on the back of a strong anticlerical platform that called for confiscating church property. He had once described priests “as black microbes who are as deadly to mankind as tuberculosis germs.”53

Pius, a political realist, was not in the least sympathetic to fascism. Nevertheless he felt that appeasing Mussolini might be the best way to ensure peace between the church and state.54 The Pope believed that an autocrat was necessary to check embedded government corruption as well as to control the political instability fueled since the end of World War I by record unemployment, mass strikes, and a growing anarchist movement.55 Pius dispatched a trusted cleric, Father Pietro Tacchi Venturi, to convince Mussolini that the church was not an enemy. A self-described “good Jesuit and good fascist,” Venturi believed the church’s most dangerous enemy was the “worldwide Jewish-Masonic plutocracy.”56

The Pope’s outreach to Il Duce came at the right moment. Although the Pontiff had lost much of his temporal power, he still carried great moral influence inside Italy.57 Mussolini, a savvy politician, knew that while his anticlerical rhetoric was popular inside his party, now that he was prime minister he needed the Vatican’s endorsement to consolidate broader support in a country that was 98 percent Catholic.58 So he decided to forge a temporary peace with the church and then move against the Vatican in later years when he was in absolute control. Only a handful of his top ministers knew about his long-term strategy.59 For public consumption, Mussolini appeared to court the Vatican.60 Not long after taking power he reintroduced religious studies into state primary schools, provided some money for restoring churches, and even allowed crucifixes into public buildings from which they had been banned since 1870.61

One of the first tests for the budding alliance happened early in Pius’s reign. The Bank of Rome, entangled in another financial crisis, needed cash. The Vatican was still the bank’s major investor. Pius did not have any spare money so he dispatched Secretary of State Gasparri to meet with Mussolini. Carlo Santucci, the president of the bank, allowed the pair to meet at his central Roman palace. It was the first direct contact between the Vatican and the Italian state since the loss of the Papal States.62

Il Duce agreed to bail out the bank.63 The price for the Vatican was that Mussolini personally selected fascist directors to replace the church’s trustees on the bank’s board. The bank’s payments to the Catholic press and political parties were terminated.64 Also, Mussolini required the Vatican to stop its subsidy of the main Catholic party, the Partito Popolare Italiano, and to cut off all support for Confederazione Generale Italiana del Lavoro, the enormous Catholic trade union, as well as its agrarian cooperatives and credit unions.65

By 1928, the internal audit Pius had ordered was ready. It had taken six years to complete and concluded what many suspected: the Vatican was down to its last dollars.66 The Pope authorized the church’s first-ever bookkeeping system and ordered a rudimentary budget. But not even the first official confirmation of the frightful state of the Vatican’s finances was enough to compel Pius to loosen the church’s restrictions on commercial investments. Instead, that same year he banned bishops and priests from any involvement in banking, even with Catholic institutions, unless they agreed to be personally liable to the faithful for any losses.67 Rather than looking for ways to revive the Vatican’s failing investments, the Pope seemingly put his faith in fascism. Mussolini’s Blackshirts would not allow the church to go under, Pius reasoned, so long as they considered the church an ally. Pius had no idea that Mussolini had barely enough money to fuel his own visions of grandeur, much less help bail out the Vatican.

When Mussolini unveiled an ambitious and expensive redesign of Rome as a triumphant celebration of fascist power and architecture, Pius worried that such a grandiose capital might overshadow the Vatican. The Pope countered with his own impressive building plans.68 Pius’s projects were unrealistic, given the state of the church’s treasury.69 While Pius talked incessantly about his impressive vision, many Vatican employees grumbled about low salaries and a decade without any pay raise. Instead of constructing new buildings, some wondered aloud: Why not take better care of the existing ones? Large swaths of Vatican City were crumbling. Mold and mildew threatened some of the church’s priceless art collection, there were leaks in St. Peter’s, and vermin infestation was rampant.

Even when Pius realized that his plans were impossible, he refused to allow his advisors to embrace modern finances. Pius had a better idea: the Vatican should tap simply its rich new relative in America. There was widespread disdain inside the Vatican toward Americans. But the Pope believed the American church might prove to be the Vatican’s economic salvation, as its followers were rich.70 In 1928, the Chicago Archdiocese arranged a $300,000 loan and also allowed its property to be used as collateral so the Vatican could borrow 3 million lire.71 Since the middle of the Roaring Twenties, American Catholics were the largest contributors to Peter’s Pence.72 To show his appreciation, Pius made a Chicago seminary a pontifical university, an elite status that eluded many long-established and prestigious institutions.73 The British Minister to the Holy See told London that Pius’s elevation of archbishops Mundelein of Chicago and Hayes of New York as cardinals was prompted by “American gold,” and that “it is not so much of an exaggeration to say that the United States is now looked up to as if it were the leading Catholic nation.”74 Before their promotion, there had been only five cardinals in America’s history. And within a few years Pius would confer the high honor of Papal Orders on more than one hundred U.S. citizens. Seven were given noble titles.75

The financial aid from America alleviated the Vatican’s money woes, so much so that Pius and his top clerics had by the late 1920s shifted their focus from finances to national politics. The prominent internal debate was about whether the Vatican should sign a formal agreement with Mussolini’s fascists, one that would officially acknowledge the rights of both to exist and flourish. Mussolini had created the climate for such a deal. In addition to soft-pedaling his anticlerical vitriol and reinstituting elements of religious life into Italian society, his wife, Rachele, and their two sons and daughter were baptized in a public rite in 1923.76 In 1926, although he and his wife had married in a civil union eleven years earlier, they renewed their vows in a religious ceremony. And in 1927, the man who used to boast that he had never been to a Mass was himself baptized. Although all of those moves were symbolic, Mussolini’s instincts were good. Such theater defused much of the opposition from the country’s devout Catholics. While courting Catholics, Mussolini also had to quell opposition in his own party. Many hard-core fascists hoped for the demise of the church. They contended that any alliance with the Pope would not only violate their core principles but would lead to the “Vaticanization” of Italy.77

Pius knew there was some resistance in the Curia to such a deal. He was the first Pope since the church had lost the Papal States even to consider restoring relations with the Italian state. His four predecessors had labeled themselves prisoners in the Vatican and refused any direct communication with the government. Ultimately, instead of trying to gauge popular sentiment inside the church, the Pope followed his intuition. Father Pietro Tacchi Venturi, Pius’s liaison to Il Duce, encouraged Pius to make an agreement. Tacchi Venturi assured him that Mussolini, notwithstanding any shortcomings, could be trusted to keep his word.78

What followed was nearly two years of intense talks.79 Tacchi Venturi and Francesco Pacelli, an attorney, shared the role as the church’s negotiators.80 (There was increasing talk that Francesco’s brother, Eugenio Pacelli—later Pius XII—might soon be the Cardinal Secretary of State.81) On February 11, 1929, the Vatican and the fascists signed the Lateran Pacts, sometimes referred to as the Lateran Accords, consisting of three parts: a political treaty, a concordat that set forth the terms of the relationship between the Holy See and the state, and a financial convention.82 The Accords—named after the Vatican’s sixteenth-century Lateran Palace, built on the site from which the Crusades were launched—gave the church the most power it held since the height of its temporal kingdom.83

The political treaty set aside 108.7 acres as Vatican City and fifty-two scattered “heritage” properties as an autonomous neutral state. It reinstated Papal sovereignty and ended the Pope’s boycott of the Italian state that had been in place since the Papal States were lost.84,II The Pope was declared “sacred and inviolable,” the equivalent of a secular monarch, but invested with divine right. A new Code of Canon Law was established, which included two of Pius’s key demands: that the Italian government recognize the validity of church marriages and that Catholic religious education be obligatory in both primary and secondary state schools.86 Cardinals had the same rights as princes by blood.

The concordat granted the church immense privilege. Most important was its declaration that Catholicism was fascist Italy’s only religion. Freemasonry was outlawed, evangelical meetings in private homes banned, and Protestant Bibles forbidden. Marriage was acknowledged as a sacrament. All church holidays became state holidays. Priests were exempted from military and jury duty.87

The three-article financial convention—the Conciliazione—granted “ecclesiastical corporations” a tax exemption. It also compensated the Vatican for the confiscation of the Papal States with 750 million lire in cash and a billion lire in government bonds that paid 5 percent interest.88 The settlement—worth about $1.3 billion in 2014 dollars—was approximately a third of Italy’s entire annual budget and an enormous windfall for the cash-starved church.89 The Vatican wanted double that, but Mussolini persuaded the Pope and his negotiators that the government was itself in precarious shape. It could ill afford anything more.90 As an extra inducement, Italy agreed to pay the meager salaries of all 25,000 parish priests in the country.91

“Italy has been given back to God,” the Pope told the Vatican newspaper L’Osservatore Romano, “and God to Italy.”92 The church threw its full power behind the fascists.93 The Vatican disbanded its influential Partito Popolare Italiano and exiled its leader from Italy.94 Italian bishops swore an oath of allegiance to the fascist government and clerics were prohibited from encouraging the faithful to oppose it.95 Priests began offering prayers at Sunday Masses for Mussolini and for fascism. Some clergy joined the National Fascist Party and a few even served as officers.

The Lateran Pacts converted Mussolini into a hero for devout Italians. Many homes soon had a picture of Il Duce hanging next to one of the Pope or a crucifix.96 Even Hitler hailed the church for “making its peace with Fascism.”97 The influential Cardinal Merry del Val said Mussolini was “visibly protected by God.”98

National elections were held only a month after the Lateran Pacts were signed. The Vatican knew it needed Mussolini’s government in power to ensure that parliament approved the agreement. So priests used their pulpits to urge Catholics to vote for the fascists. In those elections—the first time women voted—the National Fascist Party won an astonishing 98 percent of parliamentary seats.

On July 25, 1929, for the first time since Pius IX declared himself a “prisoner Pope” in 1870, a Pontiff ventured outside the Vatican. Mussolini told his followers in parliament that their Fascist Party “had the good fortune to be dealing with a truly Italian Pope.”99 Milan’s archbishop called Il Duce “the new Constantine.” Pius declared him a “man sent by providence.”100 The partnership between the Vatican and Mussolini was in full bloom.101



I. Despite Gerlach’s conviction for espionage, the Vatican continued through the war to seek his advice on matters concerning Germany. When Gerlach left the priesthood after the war, Germany, Austria, and Turkey awarded him military service decorations.29

II. The Vatican is the world’s smallest sovereign nation, only two-thirds of a mile wide and half a mile north to south. Its perimeter can be walked at a leisurely pace in about forty minutes. Tiny Monaco is six times larger. And a third of the Vatican is set aside for lush manicured gardens and ornate grottoes. It has no natural resources and must import all food, energy, and labor. At the time of the Lateran Pacts, the new country had only 973 citizens, the overwhelming majority of whom were celibate priests.85
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“The Pope Banker”

The Lateran Pacts settlement left the church with more cash than it had had at any time since it lost its empire. Pius was troubled that he had no competent financial advisor to fill the gap left by Ernesto Pacelli’s fall from grace fifteen years earlier. As he made inquiries, one name topped everyone’s list: Bernardino Nogara.

Pius ordered a background report. The information that came back was good. A devout Catholic who never missed a morning Mass or afternoon devotional, the fifty-nine-year-old Nogara came from a middle-class farming family in a small village near Lake Como.1 He had graduated with honors in industrial and electrical engineering from one of Italy’s premier schools, Politecnico di Milano. In his first overseas job in 1894, he oversaw mining operations in south Wales. That is where he became fluent in English, as well as where two years later he met and married his wife, Ester Martelli.2

After returning to Italy in 1901, he reached out to an acquaintance, Giuseppe Volpi, a Venetian seven years his junior who was in the early stages of a career that would bring him to the pinnacle of Italian business and political power. Volpi was part of a well-connected group of financiers, politicians, and aristocrats, all of whom worked in league with Italy’s largest bank, Banca Commerciale Italiana (BCI).3 He arranged a five-year contract for Nogara to serve as a general manager for a Bulgarian-based mining venture that was planning to expand throughout Asia Minor. In 1907, Volpi tapped Nogara to direct the Constantinople branch of his expanding empire. It was there Nogara learned Turkish and discovered a natural talent for mastering the cutthroat political intrigue that was the hallmark of the Ottoman capital.4 Through his work with Volpi, Pius learned, Nogara earned a reputation for his financial acumen.5

After the Italo-Turkish War—a one-year conflict between Italy and Turkey in 1911 over control of Libya—the Rome Chamber of Commerce selected Nogara as the Italian delegate to the Ottoman Public Debt Council. It was a European-run organization of some five thousand employees whose brief was to pay off the enormous Ottoman Empire debt to Western countries by managing its monopoly and customs revenues in receivership.6

After World War I, Nogara was chosen as the Turkish expert to Italy’s economic delegation at the Versailles Peace Conference, a forum to which the Vatican was denied a role. Nogara impressed his colleagues with his business savvy. Then in 1924, he began a five-year stint in charge of the industry division of the Inter-Allied Commission responsible for rebuilding war-ravaged Germany. There he met many of the same men who now urged the Vatican to hire him to handle the Lateran settlement and remake the church’s finances.7

It was to his favor that Nogara was friendly with the Pope’s family.8 As a layman, his religious credentials were also important. Among his twelve siblings, four brothers had become priests. Two were archbishops, Giuseppe in the northern city of Udine and Roberto in Cosenza, in the south. Luigi was a rector at the Seminary of Molfetta. Pope Benedict had appointed another brother, Bartolomeo, a noted archaeologist, as the general director of the Vatican Museums and Monuments. Bernardino’s only sister was the mother superior of a convent.9 Entrenched rumors that Nogara was secretly a practicing Jew made their way to Pius.10 The Vatican directed parish priests to produce his baptismal records. Nogara came from a Venetian family that had been Jewish before converting during the 1500s when Pius IV expelled all Jews from the Papal States, confiscated their property, and imprisoned and tortured those who stayed and did not convert. Although Pius was satisfied about the matter, the “he’s really a Jew” gossip dogged Nogara during his long tenure.

On June 2, 1929, the Pope met privately with Nogara. That meeting was one of the few not recorded on the Vatican calendar.11 “I know that by asking you [to work here] I am interrupting a brilliant career as a private financier,” the Pope reportedly told him.12 The Pontiff’s solicitous approach won Nogara over and Pius meanwhile was convinced by their meeting that Nogara was right for the job.13

Nogara’s selection required Mussolini’s approval since the church’s investments could have major repercussions for Italy. Though Nogara was not a Fascist Party member, he casually knew Mussolini. Il Duce gave his consent.14

Pius created a new division—the Amministrazione Speciale della Santa Sede (Special Administration of the Holy See, or ASSS)—and put Nogara in charge. The ASSS, or simply Special Administration, was responsible for investing the huge settlement from the Lateran Pacts. Nogara moved into a sprawling apartment in the just-constructed Governor’s Palace, adjacent to the Pope’s private residence. Pius made it clear that not even cardinals had the authority to interfere with his work.15 Nogara met only with the Pope, and his one obligation was to provide Pius an annual written report that was then stored in the Pope’s private safe.16 No copies remain.

The cliquish old guard of Black Nobles and senior clerics were wary of the newcomer.17 They were incensed that Pius had picked a lay commoner and were confident they could undermine him since he was a neophyte. Nogara’s Curial antagonists underestimated him.18 Between his service on large government commissions and also at BCI, a bank known for its brutal infighting, the Milanese banker had learned adeptly how to battle political foes. He moved quickly to fortify his power by hiring several private industry colleagues. Traditionalists were horrified, for instance, when a Credit Suisse banker, Henri de Maillardoz, visited the Vatican to meet with Nogara. The influential Monsignor Domenico Tardini fretted that the mere arrival of Maillardoz—as well as some other bankers from Société de Banque Suisse and Union de Banques Suisses—was a sign that Nogara was contemplating prohibited financial speculation. Tardini thought there were “quieter, safer more stable” ways of guarding the church’s money, and if Nogara and his new team were “wrong, then the Holy See would suffer the consequences of the mistakes.”19 But Tardini protested in vain. Maillardoz left Credit Suisse to become the Secretary to the Special Administration.20 Nogara’s new aides reported to him and he in turn only to the Pope, reinforcing the buffer between him and the old guard.

And to keep his rivals busy on other matters, he ordered that every Vatican department prepare an annual budget and issue monthly income and expense statements.21 He insisted that traditional Curia power brokers produce rudimentary reports that made them accountable for how they spent their money. No longer could cardinals hide the mismanagement in their departments with the excuse that the Vatican itself was in awful fiscal shape. Although such rules seemed elementary accounting, they were new to an institution that had no history of fiscal oversight.22

Nogara decided that the Vatican’s investments were too concentrated in bonds and in the Bank of Rome.23 Any financial problems at that bank would translate into trouble for the Vatican. He boldly diversified the church’s risk, transferring some of the Bank of Rome deposits to Swiss, French, and other Italian banks.24 Next, Nogara invested some of the Lateran Pacts settlement into French and Hungarian railroads as well as German industry.25 From his tenure on the Allied Commission tasked to rebuild German manufacturing, he was convinced Germany was poised for resurgence after its World War I pounding.26 He was friendly with Bertha Krupp, one of the heirs to the eponymously named industrial giant. She reinforced his belief that business investments there would yield large returns. Nogara shied from German stocks, however, judging them too unstable.27 That was fortuitous. In October, only months after he had assumed his Vatican posting, the U.S. stock market crashed. Equities worldwide were hammered. Nogara pivoted from determining how to invest the church’s Lateran Pacts money to trying to safeguard its finances from calamity.

Nogara cited the Wall Street crash in advising Pius to reconsider the timing for his transformative redesign of Vatican City. The church, under a secret side deal with Mussolini, was already on the line for a 50 million lire contribution to a new fascist banking institution—the Istituto Centrale di Credito—dedicated to helping distressed Catholic credit unions and banks.28 But Pius was not persuaded by Nogara’s austerity pitch.29 So despite the stock market crash, the Pope approved the Vatican’s largest modern-day construction boom, what historians dub the “Imperial Papacy.”30

Nogara managed to get himself appointed to the committee responsible for overseeing the construction, hoping that he might be able to control the costs. It proved impossible. Nearly a third of the Lateran Pacts cash went to a mail and telegraph office, a train station, a power plant, and an industrial quarter composed of garages, shops, and factories.31 Courts and a prison were erected, the Catholic press got its own printing facility and offices, and a radio station opened.32 A two-year binge commenced of ripping out the small gardens and laying miles of pipes to irrigate lavish formal gardens planted with trees and exotic plants imported from five continents. A replica of the grotto of Lourdes was built. Small, centuries-old houses were demolished and replaced by extravagant new palazzos to house church officials, visiting dignitaries, and foreign diplomats.33

Pius also expanded the Vatican museums, adding a picture gallery and extending the library. The Pope built a wall around Vatican City, the first time it was physically separated from the rest of Rome. And when the Vatican announced it would abandon horse-drawn carriages, American auto companies stumbled over each other to see who could get free cars to Pius.34

Many of the new buildings—all prominently adorned with Pius’s personal coat of arms—were designed in the then popular neoclassical style.35 They seemed even more grandiose than the contemporary fascist buildings built as part of Mussolini’s plans for a majestic Rome. Some observers thought that Pius was competing with the fascist government’s imposing display of power. The British ambassador to the Holy See described the church’s new architecture as “disfiguring.”36

The Imperial Papacy was building more than simply a grander Vatican City. Over five hundred new positions were added to the Curia in the two years following the Lateran Pacts.37 None of this came cheaply. Nogara’s concerns about the possible fallout from Wall Street were prescient. The malaise that had started with the American stock exchange crash spread worldwide and infected far more than equities. Unemployment rates zoomed in industrial countries and manufacturing production plummeted. Mussolini grappled with Italy’s worsening financial crisis. He no longer had spare money with which to help the church. Moreover, as Italians grew increasingly concerned about the financial crunch, Mussolini sometimes distracted them by allowing his top officials to ramp up the polemics against the church, blaming Catholic trade associations for favoring their friends instead of pitching in to help ordinary Italians. An angry crowd torched a bishop’s palace in Verona. At least one fascist rally was punctuated with calls of “death to the traitor Ratti,” Pius’s name before he ascended to the Papacy.38

Pius was furious at the agitation caused by Mussolini. He considered it a breach of their treaty. The Pope had put his own reputation on the line inside the Vatican when he had assured critics that Mussolini was a trustworthy man. Pius issued a prominent 1931 encyclical, Non Abbiamo Bisogno (We Do Not Need), in which he censured the fascists for their cult of violence and veneration of the state.39,I “We do not fear,” he wrote about the bullying from Mussolini. But Pius avoided condemning the fascist state. He agonized over whether Mussolini might retaliate by reinstituting taxes against the church to make up for Italy’s fiscal shortfall.41 The public spat between the Pope and Il Duce was settled in another deal—this one secret—that further denuded the power of the Azione Cattolica (Catholic Action), the huge lay social organization founded by Pius X in 1905. The fascists feared its independence and unpredictability. It made no difference that the Lateran Pacts had promised to protect Catholic Action.42 In return, Mussolini pledged to tone down the attacks on the church.

The squabble between the Pope and Il Duce accelerated a precipitous drop in Peter’s Pence.43 Pius asked some well-off American dioceses, such as Chicago and New York, to advance Rome a loan against its future collections. They demurred. The request demonstrated how little the Pope appreciated the depth of the U.S. economic malaise. When Pius asked for money in 1932, unemployment in the United States was nearing an unprecedented 23.1 percent. Fear had frozen American Catholics from contributing to their own dioceses. There was no spare money.

In Britain, that same year, hundreds of thousands demonstrated in Hunger Marches, demanding work and food. Vatican documents reveal that instead of being concerned about the humanitarian crisis that forced so many to protest, church officials were oblivious to the dire state of affairs. Instead they fretted about whether the unrest might further cut the flow of funds from British Catholics to Rome.44

Nogara was so troubled about the impact of the church’s tumbling income that he persuaded Pius to cut employee salaries between 10 and 15 percent.45 And to raise extra cash, the Vatican christened 1933 a “Holy Year,” the twenty-fourth since Pope Boniface announced the first one in 1300. It resulted in a brief spike in pilgrims and donations.46

Nogara’s worst-case warnings about the consequences of the international financial downturn were realized.47 Another precipitous drop in the value of the British pound meant big losses for Vatican holdings there.48 Defaults on interest payments by Peru, Chile, Brazil, Greece, Hungary, Austria, and Bulgaria—all countries to which the Vatican had issued loans—meant more red ink. Even the huge international banking firm Kreuger & Toll failed to pay any return on the money the church had invested there.49,II In 1933, the Vatican lost its investment in the Missouri Pacific Railroad when that firm went bust. And the slide in the dollar further damaged its American holdings.51 By the end of 1933—the height of the Great Depression—the Vatican tallied losses of more than 100 million lire. Its annual revenues had slumped dramatically.52 The church did not have the money to help Catholic institutions stay afloat. By the end of the decade, seventy-four Catholic community banks had failed. It cost tens of thousands of ordinary Catholics more than a billion lire in lost deposits.53

The financial maelstrom did not cause Pius to lose faith in Nogara. He knew that without Nogara the church could be in worse shape. The grim international forecast convinced Pius to give Nogara autonomy he was unlikely to have ever had in more stable times. The Pope agreed not to exercise his traditional veto over money matters so long as Nogara was in place. It was an unequivocal signal not only about the frightening depths of the crisis but also evidence of the unrivaled scope of Nogara’s authority. Some in the Curia mocked Pius as “the Pope banker.”54 Even Nogara’s most entrenched opponents concluded that so long as Pius was Pope, he was untouchable.55

Nogara embarked on an investment strategy—radical by Vatican standards—intended to reverse the church’s downward spiral. He first turned to gold. Giuseppe Volpi, his longtime business colleague and friend, had just finished a three-year tenure as Mussolini’s Finance Minister. Volpi had returned the lira to the gold standard. He encouraged Nogara to accumulate the precious metal as a hedge for bad times.56 Over just a few months, Bernardino added $4 million in gold bars to the Vatican’s reserves.57 Next, he invested in real estate, something he thought less susceptible to the fluctuations of securities and currencies. The Depression had caused real estate prices to plunge, so there were many attractive deals for cash buyers. Nogara bought prime properties in France, Britain, and Switzerland.58 And he was at the forefront of a new strategy—arbitrage—in which he purchased government bonds from one country while selling a different batch in another nation, hoping to profit on the price fluctuations between them.59 It was risky and speculative, a practice still in its infancy, but promised significant profits if his hunches on price movements were right.60

The Vatican did not like to advertise its financial moves. Nogara hid the purchases. He put them through a network of holding companies. The chief one was Groupement Financier Luxembourgeois (Grolux S.A.), headquartered in Luxembourg.61 His choice of that country was no mistake.62 Just two years earlier Luxembourg had passed laws and regulations that made it an even more attractive investment haven than neighboring Switzerland and Liechtenstein. Funneling much of the money through Grolux meant that Nogara was assured inviolable confidentiality.63 Under Grolux Nogara established other foreign firms. Paris-based Sopridex managed the ASSS’s real estate in France. Lausanne Immobilier was his Swiss firm, and British Grolux ran the UK properties. To assuage the Papal financial advisors he had displaced, he stocked the boards of his holding companies with handpicked French, British, and Italian aristocratic Catholics.64

His foreign operations required special attention. Nogara established a small unit inside the ASSS to concentrate solely on those ventures. Each new person hired in that section had to be fluent in German, Italian, French, and English.65

Nogara was a longtime director of BCI, Italy’s largest bank, and also was on the board of a Swiss bank, Sudameris. He created another holding company so the Vatican could invest in those, and other, banks.66 And instead of relying just on Italian banks to move money, he used Maillardoz’s Union de Banques Suisses in Switzerland; Enskilda in Sweden; and Mees & Hope in the Netherlands.67 He tapped the House of Morgan in New York, London, and Paris to hold some of the church’s gold reserves, as well as hundreds of thousands of dollars in securities. Giovanni Fummi, a Morgan executive from a patrician Italian family, and an avid Mussolini supporter, became Nogara’s man on Wall Street.

Pius was pleased to learn of the Morgan involvement. Before he became Pope he had spent seven years directing the Vatican Library. One of his projects was restoring sixty Coptic fragments recovered from a thousand-year-old monastery. The Morgan Collection in New York had sent the fragments to Rome for restoration. Pius—then Monsignor Ratti—met repeatedly with J. P. Morgan, the patriarch of the New York banking dynasty. He liked the garrulous American, having no idea that the Episcopalian Morgan had once lobbied hard to keep a Catholic off Harvard’s board.68 When Nogara told him about the new relationship, Pius considered it a providential sign (Pius later bestowed on Morgan, and his CEO, Tom Lamont, the Grand Cross of Saint Gregory the Great for their extraordinary service to the church).69

While Nogara’s Vatican investments were international, he concentrated on Italy, the market he knew best. The Depression had battered many Italian firms. By the mid-1930s he had invested in Italian financial, utility, mining, textile, and property companies.70 And to watch over the investments, Nogara often served as a director for the acquired companies. He cultivated friendships with an expanding circle of business associates and politicians.71 Among others, he befriended Fiat’s founder, Giovanni Agnelli; Alberto Pirelli, heir to the country’s rubber monopoly; and the chairmen of two Italian insurance giants, Edgardo Morpurgo of Assicurazioni Generali and Arnoldo Frigessi di Rattalma of Riunione Adriatica di Sicurtà (RAS).72

Aftershocks of the Depression had caused an Italian credit crisis. The share prices of banks, including the Bank of Rome, Sardinian Land Credit, Banco di Santo Spirito, Credito Italiano, and even Nogara’s BCI, got hammered. The church’s long-standing investments turned into deep losses. So Nogara joined other bankers and businessmen and lobbied Mussolini to create the Industrial Reconstruction Institute (IRI), a government agency that would seize the shares of the ailing institutions and institute strict regulations to stave off a collapse of Italy’s banking system.73 Mussolini’s version of nationalization was to carve out a small role for private capital. He established the IRI—a hybrid of state nationalization with a private sector.

Nogara had his own plan for how the IRI might benefit the Vatican.74 He convinced the IRI to allow the church to redeem its shares in some of the nationalized banks at the full value for which the Vatican had purchased them.75 This allowed the church to avoid millions in losses and transferred the debt to the Italian Treasury.76 Nogara found other ways to capitalize on the banks’ hard times. As a director at many of them, and as a friend of the IRI’s fascist directors, he often knew in advance which banks would get the government’s biggest capital injections. Armed with that insider knowledge, Nogara invested Vatican money in those few that managed to emerge from state control.77,III

Nogara also found opportunity in a fascist holding company for the distressed oil and gas industry. He managed to get the inside track on the one major private firm, Italgas, a leading natural gas conglomerate, in which the fascists decided to sell a majority stake. As a BCI director, Nogara had taken part in Italgas’s bailout and he served on the government holding company in which the company’s shares were held. When Mussolini finally approved the sale, Nogara and his Black Noble partners—led by Marquis Francesco Pacelli (the brother of the future Pius XII)—managed to take a majority stake for less than a quarter of its market value.79 Italgas turned into one of the church’s most profitable investments.80

And as he had done before with Grolux, Nogara selected prominent Catholic laymen to serve on the boards of the rescued banks and companies, all of whom eventually received Papal titles and decorations.81 Over several years, those handpicked directors expanded their influence as they served on interlocking boards for many of Italy’s largest firms.

Nogara later swapped some of the Vatican’s ownership in a few of the reconstituted banks for IRI bonds paying 5 percent interest.82 The investment in fascist-issued bonds was not only a good deal for the Vatican, but it further tied the church’s economic health to the Italian state. By 1935, with the exception of farming, there was no sector of the Italian economy in which the Vatican did not have a significant investment or ownership interest.83 Only Mussolini’s government owned more than the Vatican.

Fascist politicians and businessmen served on many of the company boards in which the Vatican had a stake, putting fascist and church representatives at the same decision-making table in key industries. This commingling meant the Vatican had every reason to maintain at the minimum a benign political tolerance for Mussolini’s regime. In many respects that was not difficult. Il Duce was refreshing compared to the anticlerical mixture of socialists and freethinkers who—to the church’s great detriment—had played significant roles in Italian politics since the late nineteenth century.84 And the church did not have to make any compromises when it came to fascist social policies. Mussolini’s insistence on public morality, belief in the inferior role of women, and the ban on contraception and abortion made the fascists palatable to the church.85

Equally important was that Mussolini’s anticommunist stance was comforting. The Vatican feared godless bolshevism far more than it detested fascism. Pius had come to despise communism during his tenure as Poland’s Nuncio.86 And his Cardinal Secretary of State, Eugenio Pacelli, had been the target of an unsuccessful assassination by a communist cell when he was Germany’s Nuncio. Pacelli had an equally hard-line view.87 Both men knew that the Soviets had not just declared a rhetorical war on organized religion. In Russia the state waged a bloody war against all faiths, jailing or murdering the clergy, destroying churches or turning them into atheist museums, and banning any teaching of God to children under the age of sixteen.88

While the Vatican and Mussolini were cementing their de facto partnership, Pius issued three encyclicals on economic and social issues.89 Each reiterated a condemnation of unbridled capitalism and the accumulation of great wealth by a few, as well as decrying as “deadly” international finance and its focus on profits. He denounced capitalists “addicted to excessive gain.”90 Medieval dogma declared money itself was an unproductive pursuit. Loaning money at interest was immoral. Pius was the first Pope in decades to restate that dogma so forcefully: “The desire for money is the root of all evil.”91

Those encyclicals puzzled Italians in the private sector who were doing business with the church. What the Pope said would have precluded many of Nogara’s investments. But only a handful of ranking clerics knew that before Nogara had accepted Pius’s appointment at the Vatican, he had made it clear he would do so only if his work was not restricted by religious doctrine. Nogara had also insisted he should be free to invest anywhere in the world, no matter what the country’s politics.92 And while some in the Curia grumbled that Nogara’s financial speculation violated the church’s core values, so long as the balance sheets showed surpluses, Pius and his chief advisors were pleased.93 It was also somewhat easier for officials to give wide latitude to Nogara since he was a layman.94

Nogara’s freedom paid off. His diversification stabilized the church through the Great Depression. An unintended consequence of his investments was that as the worldwide financial crisis began easing, the Vatican and Mussolini were thoroughly entwined.



I. After World War I, Italian intelligence had penetrated the Vatican with clerical informants and lay agents, ranging from cooks to footmen to policemen. They focused not just on politically significant information, but also on compiling compromising dossiers on the sexual predilections of top clerics. Such dirt was also useful as blackmail. One of the few matters about which the informants failed to provide advance notice was Pius’s 1931 antigovernment encyclical. Mussolini shook up his intelligence agency’s leadership so he would not again be surprised.40

II. Kreuger & Toll collapsed when it was exposed for having perpetrated one of the largest twentieth-century frauds. The Vatican was merely one of hundreds of institutions swindled. The company’s Swedish chairman, Ivar Kreuger, known as the “Match King,” killed himself after his company’s deceptions were revealed. (The Kreuger family, and some subsequent authors, have contended the suicide was, in fact, murder.)50

III. In the 1930s, Italy had the largest state ownership of companies other than the Soviet Union. At the end of Mussolini’s reign in 1943, 80 percent of all Italian banks were still under IRI control.78
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Prelude to War

The Vatican-Mussolini partnership was set against the backdrop of Italy’s flourishing alliance with Germany’s Third Reich, the so-called Rome-Berlin Axis. The church had good reason to monitor that political union. A third of Germans were Catholic. Despite the godless ideology promoted by Adolf Hitler’s National Socialist Party, the church realized it had to work with the Nazis if it meant safeguarding the rights of Catholics.

The Vatican saw in the Nazis the same fervent anticommunism that was an integral element of Mussolini’s fascism. Pius knew, however, that deciding how best to deal with Germany was not as simple as concluding that Hitler was less evil than Soviet dictator Joseph Stalin. The Vatican feared that Hitler was more passionate about his anticlerical rhetoric than was Mussolini. Nazi policy was that the state alone should be revered. Since Hitler was raised Catholic and a few Third Reich ministers occasionally spoke of “positive Christianity,” some church officials hoped Hitler might soften his antichurch theme over time. The Führer gave conflicting signals. Once he declared that churches should be an integrated element of German national life. Another time he said: “You are either a Christian or a German. You cannot be both.”1 Privately, however, Hitler promised colleagues that he would “eradicate” Christianity from Germany.2

If anyone had faith that the Germans could be trusted despite the harshness of their rhetoric, it was Secretary of State Eugenio Pacelli. An admitted Teutophile, he had been the Papal Nuncio to Germany for twelve years. Within weeks of Hitler’s 1933 appointment as Chancellor, Pacelli sent the Führer a private letter in which he obliquely endorsed the Nazi’s strong anticommunist policies.3 At the time, no European country yet had recognized Hitler’s government. Hitler saw an opening in Pacelli’s note. He reasoned that if the Vatican conferred the stamp of its moral authority on the Third Reich, it might encourage other nations to follow. The same impetus had propelled Mussolini into a pact with the Vatican. And although Hitler wanted to crush the church, he did not want to repeat the mistake of his predecessor, Bismarck, by taking on so early a widely popular faith.4 The Nazi hierarchy knew that Pacelli was as likely as any church official to be receptive to a deal. During his tenure as Nuncio, Pacelli had hammered out concordats with Bavaria (1924), Prussia (1929), and Baden-Württemberg (1932).5

Hitler dispatched to Rome Vice Chancellor Franz von Papen—a Papal Knight—to determine whether the Holy See might entertain a formal treaty with the Third Reich.6 Hermann Göring, a decorated chief of the Luftwaffe and one of Hitler’s closest aides, accompanied Papen to emphasize to the Vatican that the Germans were serious. Starting in April 1933, Pacelli and Papen began secret negotiations.7 That was the same month that the Nazis ratcheted up their war against the Jews. On April 1, the National Socialists launched a nationwide boycott of Jewish businesses.8 Nazi storm troopers burned Jewish shops and assaulted Jews.9 Three days after the start of the hooliganism, the Third Reich passed its first decree directed at Jews—the Law Regarding the Admission to the Bar—banning Jewish attorneys.10 It was the start of what some historians have called “plunder by decree.”11 A few days later a law dismissed Jews from the civil service since they were not “Aryan.” A week later another law prohibited them from serving as teachers and judges.12 The number of Jews allowed to study in universities was set at a fixed quota of one percent. Jewish war veterans and their families—more than 32,000 Jewish German soldiers had died in World War I—were cut off from benefits. On April 11, for the first time the Nazis defined Jews by blood: one Jewish grandparent marked someone as “non-Aryan.”13 Thousands of instructional charts were distributed to help average Germans distinguish Jews from Aryans.14 In May, the Nazis celebrated the first in a series of public-spectacle book burnings. They were meant to expunge from public libraries the literary and scientific contributions of Jewish intellectuals and scholars, including books by Kafka, Hesse, Brecht, Einstein, and Freud.15

The violent national boycott, the exclusionary law, and the book burnings were all an early test for the church. Would it tolerate the Nazis’ unrelenting anti-Semitism? During those first seminal months—while negotiations with the Nazis were under way—no Vatican official or German bishop condemned what was happening to Germany’s Jews.16 Breslau’s Cardinal Adolf Bertram instead dismissed a plea for intervention by averring that the Nazi “measures [were] directed against an interest group which has no very close bond with the Church.” In any case, said Bertram, “The press, which is overwhelmingly in Jewish hands, has steadfastly remained consistently silent about the persecution of Catholics.”17 Munich’s Cardinal Michael von Faulhaber, one of the most influential clerics, distributed an order directing German clergy to support the Nazi state. He reiterated his full “confidence” in the Third Reich.18 Faulhaber later wrote a letter to Pacelli: “We bishops are being asked why the Catholic Church, as often in its history, does not intervene on behalf of the Jews. This is not possible at this time because the struggle against the Jews would then, at the same time, become a struggle against the Catholics, and because the Jews can help themselves. . . .”19

On April 25, thousands of German priests became part of what historian John Cornwell calls an “anti-Semitic attestation bureaucracy,” by surrendering their parish marriage and baptism records.20 The Nazis used those documents to verify blood purity. In less than two months, on July 14, the Nazis enacted the Law for the Prevention of Genetically Diseased Offspring. It institutionalized sterilization for people determined to have one of nine supposedly hereditary conditions, including deafness and blindness, bipolar and schizophrenia, “feeblemindedness,” physical deformity, and even alcoholism. Vatican officials discussed what to do since such mandatory sterilization was a gross violation of church teachings and a 1930 encyclical Pius had issued, Casti Connubii (Of Chaste Wedlock).21 The Pope feared, however, that any criticism might jeopardize the ongoing negotiations with the Third Reich. The Vatican stayed silent.22 Pius privately told his bishops not to rule out a future campaign against the sterilization decree, but neither did he encourage them to start one. Eventually 400,000 Germans were sterilized, and the Vatican did not issue a Pastoral Letter against it for another decade, only after the tide of the war had begun to turn against the Nazis).23,I

Less than a week later, on July 20, Papen and Cardinal Pacelli signed a thirty-three-article pact—a Reichskonkordat—that was the result of nearly three months of negotiations.25 Hitler granted, at least on paper, many of the safeguards the church wanted. The National Socialists guaranteed the right of Catholics to practice their faith as well as the freedom to express it publicly without retribution. Catholics were “protected in their establishments and their activity.” Religious orders were exempted from paying taxes on stipends they received from the church. The right to operate Catholic schools was reaffirmed.26 Government workers were forbidden from criticizing the church.27 And there was a special accommodation for the Kirchensteuer, the church tax on German Catholics that had been in effect since 1919. The church often had trouble getting the faithful to pay it voluntarily, so the Third Reich agreed to collect the 8 to 10 percent tariff through automatic payroll deductions of Catholic wage earners.28 It was the first time that any country had agreed to provide the Vatican a share of government-collected tax money. It uniquely tied the church to the Third Reich.29,II

In return, the Vatican gave Hitler the formal endorsement he wanted. Article 16 of the Reichskonkordat required German bishops and cardinals to swear an oath of loyalty to the Third Reich. It was a dramatic reversal from 1932 when a German bishops’ conference had banned membership in the Nazi Party and forbade anyone wearing a swastika from receiving the sacraments.31 The agreement also decreed that a “special prayer . . . for the welfare of the German Reich” be inserted into every Sunday and Holy Day Mass.

The Germans also prevailed on the most contested provision, Article 32: it banned all clergy from joining any political party. That accelerated the demise of the Catholic Center Party, forcing the resignation of priests who had been elected to the Reichstag.32 And all church organizations and orders were prohibited from expressing any political opinions. The definition of “political” was left to the discretion of the Nazis. The Reichskonkordat was clear: anything that was not about “the dogmatic and moral teachings and principles of the Church” was suspect.33

And to ensure the purity of the priesthood, the Nazis required all priests practicing in Germany to be natural-born citizens who had a German education. They would answer only to German superiors. Religious instruction had to encourage patriotism and devotion to the state.34

Pacelli had tried inserting a sentence to protect Catholics who had converted from Judaism, what the Nazis dubbed “non-Aryan Catholics.” Under the Third Reich’s race laws, such converts were considered Jews. Even children and grandchildren of converts, of whom there were some 300,000 in Germany, were still Jews according to the Nazis.35 Church officials fretted that if only blood controlled Jewish identity, there would be no further inducement for Jews to convert to Catholicism.36 In the worst historical persecutions against Jews—even the bloody Spanish Inquisition—converting was enough to avoid torture or death. Pius XI had made conversion one of the central tenets of his Papacy.

But the Germans rejected any protection for “non-Aryan Catholics.” Nazi theorists considered converted Jews dangerous. By adopting Catholicism they might be able to mask their Jewishness and become sleeper agents spreading corruption inside Germany.37 (Five years later Pacelli issued an appeal to bishops to help obtain up to 200,000 exit visas for non-Aryan Catholics.)38

A delighted Hitler boasted that the “treaty with the new Germany means the acknowledgment of the National Socialist State by the Catholic Church.”39 The Reichskonkordat convinced ordinary Germans that the Vatican approved of the Third Reich. German Catholics embraced the Nazis without any lingering reservations. In the months following the agreement, a record number of Catholics became Nazi Party members (some clergy also joined, with one bishop entering the SS).40

That September (1933), after the German Reichstag ratified the agreement, the Papal Nuncio to Germany, Archbishop Cesare Orsenigo, celebrated with a Pontifical High Mass at Berlin’s grand eighteenth-century St. Hedwig’s cathedral. Catholic SS members received special invitations. The cathedral’s vaulted dome was festooned with Papal flags that hung next to those emblazoned with swastikas. In his sermon, Orsenigo praised Hitler as “a man marked by his devotion to God, and sincerely concerned for the well-being of the German people.” Since the crowd was so large—thousands could not squeeze into the standing-room-only cathedral—loudspeakers broadcast the service to enthusiastic throngs outside.

The Reichskonkordat was important for the Nazis.41 It gave them the parliamentary votes of the Catholic Center Party, further tightening their grip on government.42 And Hitler was right. His first treaty with a foreign power—even one as Lilliputian as the Vatican—polished his image.43 In a Sunday sermon, Cardinal von Faulhaber, who came to regret the deal, praised the Führer: “This handshake with the papacy, the greatest moral power in the history of the world, is a feat of immeasurable blessing. . . . May God protect our Chancellor for our people.”44

The Nazis were proud the Vatican stayed the course through the negotiations during the first major escalation of their campaign against Jews. Hitler told other Nazis that the treaty had created a political tone that was “especially significant in the urgent struggle against international Jewry.”45 The Führer boasted privately: “I shall be one of the few men in history to have deceived the Vatican.”46

Two weeks after the Pontifical High Mass in Berlin, the Nazis issued new race orders that excluded Jews from all artistic, dramatic, literary, film, and news enterprises. The following day, Jewish farmers were banned from owning farmland and were denied inheritance rights to family property.

Just a month after the agreement, Pope Pius XI told a British diplomat that he knew about “German persecutions of the Jews.”47 But he gave no indication that he intended to say anything in protest. The Pope had been raised and educated in a church theology steeped in anti-Semitism.48 Moreover, he had demonstrated he was no reformer when it came to relations between the church and Jews. Five years before the Reichskonkordat, Pius had rejected the efforts of a reformist Catholic movement, the Friends of Israel, to remove Holy Week references to the “perfidy of Jews” and “perfidious Jews.”49 He thought the protesting Jews were attempting to promote Zionism and create a homeland in Palestine.50 That was taboo. His predecessor, Pius X, had made that clear in a 1904 meeting with the father of Zionism, Theodor Herzl. The Pope told Herzl: “We cannot prevent the Jews from going to Jerusalem, but [we] could never sanction it. . . . The Jews have not recognized our Lord. Therefore, we cannot recognize the Jewish people, and so, if you come to Palestine and settle your people there, we will be ready with churches and priests to baptize all of you.”51 In accord with that rhetoric, Pius XI disbanded the Friends of Israel.52

Church officials did not speak out against the November 1933 Nazi legislation that provided for the internment in concentration camps of the homeless, beggars, and the unemployed. Nor when the Third Reich enacted a law in June 1935 introducing compulsory abortions to prevent the passing of hereditary diseases. More silence ensued in September 1935 with the passage of two so-called Nuremberg Laws. The first, the Law for the Protection of German Blood and German Honor, criminalized sexual relations and marriage between Jews and Aryans. The second, the Reich Citizenship Law, stripped Jews of their citizenship.

Germany was not the only Vatican concordat partner that gave the church discomfort with its policies. The same was true for Italy. In 1935 the Vatican had to choose between the moralities it preached and the hunt for profits that had become a part of Nogara’s investment strategy.

On October 3, 100,000 Italian soldiers swept over the border from Italian Somaliland and invaded Ethiopia. There was no declaration of war. In less than two weeks, Italy’s troops had routed Emperor Haile Selassie’s half-million-man army, many primitively armed with spears, bows, or in some cases outdated nineteenth-century rifles. The Italians swept through the holy capital of Axum (sending a sacred obelisk back to Rome as a trophy for capturing the city).III

The Ethiopian campaign was an essential part of Mussolini’s grand ambition to re-create an Italian empire that stretched without interruption from southern Europe through central and east Africa. Ethiopia—then Abyssinia—was a prime candidate for Il Duce’s expansionist policies. It was one of the few African nations not already a European colony. France and Britain had large empires and several other European countries boasted African colonies.54 Mineral-rich Ethiopia was a natural extension of Italy’s Eritrean colony to the northwest and Italian Somaliland on the east. And finally, Mussolini was in part avenging Italy’s defeat during the First Italian-Abyssinian War thirty-nine years earlier.

The invasion was brutal. Although Italy had signed the 1925 Geneva Protocol governing the acceptable conduct of war, Mussolini’s troops ignored those rules. In artillery and aerial bombardments, they used between four and five hundred tons of prohibited mustard gas, terrorized civilians by firebombing the city of Harar, and even used the gas on Red Cross ambulances and camps.55

The mostly ineffective League of Nations—the predecessor to the United Nations—condemned Italy as the aggressor, but member countries could not agree on what to do. Nogara monitored the League’s efforts since he hoped to derail any effort to pass sanctions that might damage Italy’s economy. The League moved so slowly it gave time to some of Nogara’s Italian friends to transfer their assets to Vatican holding companies. The Vatican would be untouched by anything the League did since the Holy See was an independent country not involved in the conflict.56 But all the worrying was unnecessary. The sanctions had no bite and Italy blithely ignored them.57

The war caused little anxiety inside the Vatican. In fact, the church had no reason to take on Mussolini. Most Italians supported the invasion. Pius had himself blessed some of the troops as they left for the fighting.58 And the Pope made no attempt to dampen the clerical enthusiasm evident from church pulpits. He was even silent when Milan’s Cardinal Alfredo Ildefonso Schuster declared the war a crusade for Catholicism.59 Popular archbishops in Amalfi, Brindisi, and Sorrento rebuked the League of Nations as godless hypocrites.60 Mussolini bragged to Nazi officials, “Why they [the Vatican] even declared the Abyssinian war a Holy War!”61

Britain and France were upset with Pius’s tacit support of the Italian campaign and his refusal to speak out either against the aggression or about the plight of civilians. And the same criticism extended to Secretary of State Pacelli, who maintained a strict diplomatic silence about the invasion. Some observers thought that the Pontiff’s reluctance to wield his moral authority was because Ethiopia was mostly Muslim and had few Catholics.

But the Pope was motivated not so much by Ethiopian demographics as by what was best for business. The church had stakes in Breda, Reggiane, and Compagnia Nazionale Aeronautica, manufacturers of munitions and weapons.62 Nogara had made it clear to the Pontiff that the Vatican’s huge investments in Italian stocks and Mussolini’s state-issued bonds meant that the church’s interests were best served by a brief and successful campaign. With Nogara as middleman, the Vatican made a substantial wartime loan to the fascist government (it stayed secret for decades).63 In exchange, Mussolini gave the church “ecclesiastical dispensations” from special levies of corporate, real estate, and sales taxes that he imposed to raise money to fund the offensive.64

Nogara was concerned about intensifying British and American opposition to the invasion. He briefed the Pope, as well as Raffaele Guariglia, chief of Italy’s Bureau of Ethiopian Affairs and a strong advocate of colonial expansion.65 The message from Nogara to both was the same: a prolonged conflict would burden Italy’s resources and budget, create widespread pessimism among ordinary Italians, and potentially lead to an economic downturn that might spur the growth of extremist political parties.66

The Vatican shared Nogara’s concerns. Pius was delighted that the brutal combat ended on May 7, 1936, when Italy annexed the country and named the Italian King, Victor Emmanuel III, as Emperor. Mussolini merged the three contiguous colonies—Ethiopia, Eritrea, and Somaliland—into Italian East Africa. Two thousand five hundred Italian troops had been killed during the brief war. But an estimated 275,000 Ethiopians—soldiers and civilians—had been massacred. Reports of the bloodbath got lost in Italy’s jubilation over its conquest. Even the Pope joined leading Italian dignitaries in celebrating the war’s end and offering Mussolini his heartfelt congratulations.

Exiled Ethiopian Emperor Haile Selassie gave a rousing speech in Geneva before the League of Nations the following month. He warned, “It is us today. It will be you tomorrow.” The League passed another ineffective condemnation. Mussolini, emboldened by his victory, had withdrawn Italy from the League of Nations weeks earlier.

In the new colony, the fascists imposed anti-miscegenation laws, banning interracial marriage, cohabitation, and sexual relations. Residential segregation, in the formerly liberal country, was instituted and strictly enforced. The Vatican was silent.

There was money to be made from the conquered colony. Mussolini announced a new agency—Regia Azienda Monopolio Banane (the Royal Banana Monopoly Business)—to control the lucrative banana trade from all its African colonies. The agency doled out exclusive concessions to forty-eight businessmen, all of them ranking fascists or handpicked by the Vatican.67,IV

When Ethiopian insurgents failed in a 1937 assassination attempt on the colony’s military commander, Mussolini ordered mass executions as punishment. An estimated thirty thousand Ethiopians, including half of the younger educated class, were killed. Again, there was no public protest from Pius or any ranking cleric. In the British Foreign Office, a flurry of cables between officials reflected the now widespread Western view that the “Church has proved that it is purely Italian and far from ‘Catholic’ ” and that “the Church is in Mussolini’s pocket.”69

•  •  •

In 1937, Nogara accelerated the pace of the church’s investments beyond Europe.70 He traveled to America and stopped in the wealthy dioceses, including New York, Chicago, Washington, Philadelphia, and Cleveland. He met influential businessmen in each city. In New York, he spent much of his time with Giovanni Fummi and his fellow investment bankers at the House of Morgan.71 Relying on their advice, he put $3.5 million into the stocks of manufacturing companies, some electrical utilities, and U.S. Treasury bonds.72 Under Nogara’s cautious guidance, the Vatican now had an economic toehold in the New World.

Nogara’s decision to diversify further was prompted by his concern over Hitler’s increasingly confrontational rhetoric about Germany’s claim to the Sudetenland, a portion of northern and western Czechoslovakia with mostly German-speaking residents. The Czech military, worried that Hitler might forcibly reclaim it, had begun building fortifications and moving troops to the border.

Nogara was not the only one inside the Vatican who thought that Germany was ratcheting up tensions. The Nazis were also flagrantly violating the Reichskonkordat. As part of a coordinated effort by the Third Reich to diminish the church’s moral sway over ordinary Germans, the Nazis had begun holding public “morality trials” at which priests and nuns were prosecuted for concocted financial corruptions or sexual crimes.73 Catholic weeklies were subjected to ever stricter censorship.74 Nazis even spread the rumor that the Pope’s grandmother was a “Dutch Jewess.”75 Pius wanted to confront the Nazis, but Pacelli counseled moderation. Drafts of an encyclical were passed around to senior prelates and its language was tempered during an intense internal debate.76 The compromise was Pius’s encyclical Mit brenndender Sorge (With Burning Sorrow).77 By the obtuse standards of encyclicals, it included some remarkably direct language, such as the Pope’s condemnation of how the Nazis had repeatedly broken the treaty. In other instances it more indirectly chastised the Third Reich for encouraging a growing worship of the German state to the exclusion of religion.78 Pius distanced the church from the “so-called myth of blood and race.”79 Jews were not mentioned, although the encyclical obliquely offered “consolation and strength” to those who had converted to Catholicism.80

Third Reich officials took little satisfaction that the encyclical did not mention the persecution of Jews or condemn Germany’s institutionalized anti-Semitism. They were instead furious with its overall theme that cast the church as indispensable as the state.81 The German companies that had printed it were shuttered and their employees jailed. The Foreign Office rebuked ranking German bishops for having read it from their pulpits.82 Some Nazi officials urged annulling the Reichskonkordat.83 But Hitler wanted to keep the agreement in place. Although he did not mind upsetting the church, he did not intend to move against it with the full power of the state until after the war.84 Moreover, notes from Germany’s ambassador to the Vatican, Diego von Bergen, reveal that in a meeting with Cardinal Pacelli, after the encyclical was released, Pacelli offered appeasement. He was solicitous, expressing his own sympathy for the plight of the German people. Pacelli even proposed meeting Field Marshal Göring if it would help temper any Third Reich indignation.85 Göring responded by accelerating the pace of the morality trials intended to humiliate German priests and nuns.86

By the following year (1938), the Pope was uneasy about the militant anti-Semitism in both the Third Reich and fascist Italy.87 In a turnabout, he even suggested that the Sacred Congregation for Seminaries and Universities find Italian theology professors who might challenge the Nazi racial pseudoscience.88

When the Führer visited Rome in May on a state visit, he did not stop by the Vatican. Pius went to Castel Gandolfo, the Papal summer residence. Both sides claimed they snubbed the other but there was little doubt that neither tried very hard to set up a meeting.89

In July, the Pope directed his frustration to Mussolini. Pius was furious when Il Duce issued his Manifesto of Race, signed by a hodgepodge of fascist academics. It concluded that Italians were a “pure Aryan race” and that “Jews do not belong to the Italian race.”90 Pius told his aides that the manifesto and the subsequent race laws were “contrary to Catholic doctrine.”91 But as was the Pope’s style, the Vatican said nothing publicly. Only in a private audience with the British Minister to the Vatican, Sir D’Arcy Godolphin Osborne, did Pius share his frank fear that Europe’s new fascists had replaced communism as the church’s most dangerous enemy.92

A couple of months later, at an audience with Belgian pilgrims, Pius turned teary-eyed after the visitors presented him with a gift of an ancient missal. The Pontiff flipped the pages to a section about Abraham. “We recognize that everyone has the right to self-defense and may take the necessary means for protecting legitimate interests,” he said. “But anti-Semitism is inadmissible. Spiritually, we are all Semites.”93

Pius had reached his breaking point. Only a few aides knew that in late June he had summoned John LaFarge, an American Jesuit, to Castel Gandolfo. The Pontiff asked LaFarge to draft an encyclical addressing anti-Semitism and racism. It signaled a momentous shift in the Vatican’s policy of silent observance. The choice of LaFarge meant Pius was serious. As an editor of the Jesuit magazine America, LaFarge had a well-deserved reputation as one of the strongest editorial voices against Southern segregation. The previous year, LaFarge had published a book, Interracial Justice as a Principle of Order, which was a well-received broadside against American racism.94 LaFarge, sworn to secrecy, picked two fellow Jesuits to help him, both of whom had collaborated on previous encyclicals.95 They worked steadily for three months in Paris.

The Third Reich had compromised the German church with double agents and informants, even obtaining a source—likely a German bishop—who provided inside information at the highest level.96 He warned the Nazis that Pius was at long last focusing on an encyclical that would assault the Germans for their war on the Jews.

That September, LaFarge submitted a draft titled Humani Generis Unitas (The Unity of the Human Race). As required by church protocol, the trio turned in versions in English, Latin, French, and German, to Father Wladimir Ledochowski, the patrician Polish Father General of the Jesuits (a man called the “black pope,” after the color of his vestment and the power he wielded; American intelligence secretly concluded he was “a tireless supporter of Fascist political movements in every country including Italy”).97 Ledochowski passed it in turn for trimming to Father Enrico Rosa, editor of the Jesuit journal La Civiltà Cattolica. That was a seemingly odd choice for what Pius intended to be a groundbreaking encyclical. La Civiltà Cattolica had a storied history of virulent anti-Semitism. Father Rosa himself had written about Jews having “hidden power,” and charged they worked in partnership with Freemasons to “persecute the Catholic Church.”98

The eighty-one-year-old Pius was in poor health. Riddled with diabetes, heart disease, and ulcerated legs, he had been declining for a couple of years.99 Still, Ledochowski and Rosa did not seem in any rush. The three Jesuits who drafted Humani Generis Unitas feared that their Father General might be “bent on sabotaging the encyclical” by delaying it.100 Ledochowski would have recognized that it ventured far beyond the normal church boundaries for intervention and discourse. And the Father General of the Jesuits was a close friend of Cardinal Pacelli. The two had worked together on previous encyclicals. Both knew that as Secretary of State, Pacelli would be on any shortlist to replace Pius. Would such a bold proclamation hamper Pacelli if he became the next Pope? Ledochowski had no doubt that Humani Generis Unitas was far too audacious for the more cautious Pacelli. He also knew that some senior clerics were irked that the Pope had tapped an unproven American cleric to be the lead author on such a critical subject.

Events outside the Vatican should have given impetus to the encyclical. The same month that LaFarge submitted the first draft, Mussolini copied the Nazi race laws for Italy. The statutes purged Jews from the civil service, barred Jewish children from public schools, and gave all foreign Jews six months to leave the country.101 Pius was particularly incensed that the law banned marriages between Italians of the “Aryan race” and anyone “belonging to another race.” Father Pietro Tacchi Venturi had lobbied Mussolini in vain, contending it infringed on the rights of the church as set forth in the Lateran Pacts to be the final arbiter of all marriages.102

But Italy’s race laws did not hasten the review of the encyclical. The Jesuit hierarchy was still passing around the draft on November 9, 1938—Kristallnacht, the Night of Broken Glass—when Nazis attacked Jews throughout Germany, killing dozens and destroying thousands of businesses and synagogues. Although Kristallnacht was condemned worldwide, the Vatican stayed silent.103 Several German bishops spoke out through sermons, but it was to incite further animus. They talked about the “murderous hatred” that Jews had toward Jesus.104 The provost of Berlin’s St. Hedwig’s cathedral, Bernhard Lichtenberg, was one of the few who condemned the frenzy of violence. The Nazis made an example of his public dissent, sentencing him to two years in prison (he later died while being transferred to Dachau).105

The start of 1939 marked a further deterioration in Pius’s health. He was well enough, however, on January 13, to welcome the British Prime Minister, Neville Chamberlain, for a state visit.106 During a formal luncheon packed with dignitaries, a frail Pius told Chamberlain that he prayed daily for “the many million Catholics in Germany, whose most grievous tribulations we follow and we share each day.” The Prime Minister reminded Pius that the abuses in Germany affected far more than just Catholics and that England “deplored the sufferings inflicted” on Protestants and Jews as well.107 Pius did not answer.

A few weeks after Chamberlain’s visit, in early February, the Pope fell seriously ill. He had prepared a condemnation of fascism—a condensed version of his encyclical—that he wanted to personally deliver on February 11, the tenth anniversary of the signing of the Lateran Pacts. But he was bedridden. Although a team of doctors and his closest clerics attended to him, he died of a heart attack on February 10.108,V

No one can say with certainty whether Humani Generis Unitas got to Pius before he died. After his death, Secretary of State Pacelli ensured that all drafts of the encyclical as well as all personal papers on Pius’s desk were sealed in the Vatican’s Secret Archives.110 No one who worked on the encyclical spoke about it again and the memory of it was soon lost in the great turmoil of World War II. It remained mostly forgotten until 1972, when the National Catholic Reporter related the story in a front-page article.111 By that time, the English and French drafts were missing. A German draft was tracked to the personal papers of one of the priests who had assisted LaFarge, but the Jesuits refused to release it. After much prodding the Vatican admitted it had the Latin draft—which some believe was the original prepared for Pius’s signature—but the church denied historians access. A former Jesuit finally passed along a French version on microfilm that had been entrusted to him by LaFarge.112

Considering that the encyclical was in the editing domain of Father Rosa and drafted during an era in which the church still referred to “perfidious Jews” in its liturgy, not all its language was friendly to Jews.113 It said “Jewish people . . . promote revolutionary movements [bolshevism] which aim to destroy society and to obliterate . . . the knowledge, reverence and love of God.”114 As a result of being “blinded by their dream of worldly gain and material success” they deserved the “worldly and spiritual ruin” that had befallen them.115 Some of LaFarge’s pioneering work against segregation in America was cited as an argument for the segregation of Jews and Christians.116

Yet all the antiquated prejudices seemed insignificant compared to the overriding theme that condemned any government that pursued racist and anti-Semitic policies. They were “totally at variance with the true spirit of the Catholic Church.” Anti-Semitism and racism were linked for the first time, since “the struggle for racial purity ends by being uniquely the struggle against the Jews.” Moreover, the encyclical castigated governments that treated “innocent persons . . . as outlaws by the very fact of their parentage.”117

Historians are split over whether the Holocaust might have been averted had the encyclical been released. Some consider it a tragic missed opportunity that would have forced Hitler to at least postpone the Final Solution until after the war. Others counter that it would not have slowed Hitler in his war against the Jews but would only have guaranteed that the Nazis sent every German bishop to the concentration camps.118

What is not in dispute is that Secretary of State Pacelli prevented the church from taking any public position condemning the Nazi reign of terror on the Jews. Not only did he keep the church from exercising its moral authority, he ensured that the remarkably direct language of Humani Generis Unitas was buried in the archives. That reaffirmed the Nazi confidence that Pacelli would insist at all costs the church maintain strict neutrality through the war.



I. While church officials remained quiet about forced sterilization, another controversy in Germany had them in a frenzy: Freikörperkultur Entwicklung, the nudism movement. Shedding clothes in public was a popular avant-garde trend at some bohemian camps during the 1920s and 1930s. Ranking clerics held dozens of meetings about how the church might best battle it. The Vatican condemned it as a “fetish of the flesh.” Pacelli considered nudity “perverse,” and judged it a contributing factor to the declining birth rate among “purely Catholic marriages.” He convinced Mussolini to confiscate and destroy all copies of a book by a Dutch author that encouraged nudity. Germany was the epicenter, said Pacelli, with some five million “mentally imbalanced” adherents. Cardinal Merry del Val called nudism one of the “most detestable and pernicious aberrations of our times. . . . An attack on Christian morality.” The church never issued such unequivocally condemnatory language to address Hitler’s and Mussolini’s anti-Semitic race policies.24

II. The Reichskonkordat never stopped some high-ranking Nazis from attacking the church. In a 1938 speech, Hitler’s military secretary, Martin Bormann, said, “We Germans are the first to be appointed by destiny to break with Christianity. It will be an honor for us.” Bormann reminded Nazi provincial governors in a confidential memo that the German church “must absolutely and finally be broken.” In his book—The Myth of the Twentieth Century—Alfred Rosenberg, the Nazi Party’s philosopher and ideologue, attacked Jews and also launched an unmitigated assault on Christianity, particularly Catholicism. When the Vatican added Rosenberg’s book to its banned list, Hitler responded by promoting him as overseer of the Nazi Party’s “world view.”30

III. The Obelisk of Axum was placed in a central Roman square, in front of what would become the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization. Italy resisted returning it for decades, but finally did so in 2005.53

IV. When Pacelli visited the United States that November, he met with seventy-nine bishops in twelve of the sixteen American church’s Ecclesiastical Provinces. And the day after President Franklin Roosevelt’s reelection, Pacelli met the president at his Hyde Park home. There is no indication that the Ethiopian invasion was discussed. Instead, Roosevelt was concerned with the wildly popular but bigoted radio broadcasts of an American priest, Charles Coughlin. And Pacelli wanted to encourage the United States to reestablish relations with the Vatican (the last American diplomat was withdrawn in 1867). Although the substance of those talks was never disclosed, the results were evident. Two days after the meeting, Coughlin announced the last broadcast of his provocative show that reached thirty million listeners. And Roosevelt eventually bypassed resistance in Congress to restoring diplomatic relations with the Holy See by dispatching industrialist Myron Taylor as his personal envoy.68

V. That Pius was old and sick did not stop some inside the Vatican from embracing conspiracy theories about his passing. French Cardinal Eugène Tisserant believed that he had been murdered. According to Tisserant, one of Pius’s chief doctors—who happened to be the father of Mussolini’s film star mistress—had injected him with poison on orders from Il Duce. Tisserant even thought that Pacelli might be an accomplice. The motive was supposedly to prevent the bedridden Pius from releasing to all the bishops a Papal letter in which he savaged fascism. No such letter has ever been found.109
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A Policy of Silence

As war clouds built in Europe, national political allegiances added an element of uncertainty to the conclave to select a new Pope. Vaticanisti, knowledgeable observers of the church, tried hard to handicap which cardinals tilted toward the Germans or the Allies.1,I

The question of who would be the next Pope made its way even to Hitler. An unidentified intelligence source inside the Vatican approached the Gestapo with a tantalizing offer: the election could be fixed for 3 million gold reichsmarks. Once the secret tariff was paid, the Germans could pick the cardinal they wanted and he would win on the first ballot. Only a handful of top Nazis were let in on the secret proposal, and it ignited a furious debate at the highest level of the Third Reich. Hitler was tempted to approve the bribe but at the last moment he passed, worried the offer was too good to be true and might be a setup to embarrass the Nazis.2

Among the cardinals who would pick the next Pope, the front-runners were the pragmatic Secretary of State, Eugenio Pacelli, and Florence’s Cardinal Elia dalla Costa, a pious scholar. The British and French prelates assumed that because of Pacelli’s extensive diplomatic background he would stand for the democracies and resist the totalitarian governments.3 It is a testament to Pacelli’s accomplishments that he was even on the short list, given that he was an acknowledged Germanophile.4 He made no secret that his happiest years were his dozen serving as Papal Nuncio to Germany. He was fluent in German, surrounded himself with German advisors and housekeepers, and expressed a “special love” for all things German.5

Unknown to the British and French cardinals, the Italian and German ambassadors to the Vatican also encouraged their country’s cardinals to vote for Pacelli.6 They were convinced that his admiration of Teutonic culture and history would tilt him toward the Axis powers. But assuming that Pius would align himself with the Third Reich because he loved its culture and people was too simplistic. Having lived there during the rise of Hitler, he was wary of the Führer’s anticlerical sentiments. In 1935, he had interceded to help Jewish refugees abused by the Nazis in the Saar, a small territory returned to German control that year by the League of Nations. Still, Pacelli thought the Nazis were preferable to the communists. As Papal Nuncio, he dispatched regular reports to the Pope about “ferocious Bolshevism.” Ultimately, as a pragmatist, he concluded that since the Nazis were in power, he had no choice but to work with them.7

The Roman-born Pacelli descended from a long line of Black Nobles. His great grandfather had been Gregory XVI’s Minister of Finance. His grandfather had founded the L’Osservatore Romano newspaper and Pius IX had tapped him to serve as Undersecretary of the Interior for the Papal States. Pacelli’s father was the chief of Catholic Action as well as the dean of the Consistorial College of Advocates, which prepared cases for beatification. His brother Francesco was a key church negotiator for the 1929 Lateran Pacts. By the time of the conclave, Francesco was a Papal Marquis, and Mussolini had crowned him a prince. Even Pacelli’s two sisters had married ranking Vatican officials.8

Pacelli had begun studying for the priesthood when he was only fifteen. There was no doubt that he was smart and that his family name opened doors.9 By the time he was twenty-two he had doctorates of philosophy, canon law, and theology.10

At six feet and a featherweight 125 pounds—with an ash-gray complexion and a high-pitched, nasal voice—the sixty-three-year-old was delicate. When he had been appointed the Nuncio to Germany, he arranged at considerable cost a private rail car for the trip to Berlin. Baron Carlo Monti, a Black Noble, complained personally to Pope Benedict that Pacelli also had an additional car packed with dozens of cases of groceries that would not trouble his stomach.11 An otherwise glowing 1939 profile in Life noted that his doctors were “very severe with him” because he “suffers from liver trouble and neuralgic headaches.”12

Pacelli was an avid reader and classical music enthusiast, and a moderately talented pianist and violinist. The cardinals who backed him cited his intelligence and his extraordinary memory. He showed it off once by reading twenty verses of Homer just twice and then reciting them.13 He was also not afflicted with Pius’s tremendous rage.14 No one could recall a single incident in which Pacelli had lost his temper. Even during the tensest stages of the Reichskonkordat negotiations, no matter how many times the Nazis provoked him, he maintained an unflappable expression and never raised his voice. That same steely discipline, combined with his insistence that those who spoke to him did so only in soft tones, made him often seem distant and aloof.

He was the most modern frontrunner ever, the first to have flown in an airplane, shaved with an electric razor, embraced daily exercise, used a typewriter and a telephone.15 To his supporters in the College of Cardinals, he seemed well suited to lead the church.

As a high-profile Secretary of State, he had earned his share of entrenched enemies and jealous rivals over the years. His opponents spread unsubstantiated gossip in the hope it might slow his momentum.16 At the start of his clerical career, Pacelli had lobbied for a special Vatican dispensation to live at home with his mother. He stayed there until he was thirty-eight, an unusual accommodation for an ambitious cleric who wanted to rise in the church hierarchy.17 In the all-men’s world of the Vatican, that gave him a “mother’s boy” rap. Combined with his refined and what some deemed effeminate mannerisms (one writer said he “move[d] with almost feminine grace”), he was the subject of salacious rumors inside the gossip-obsessed Curia.18

Pacelli once told Sister Pascalina Lehnert—a fiercely loyal Bavarian nun who had been his confidant since becoming his chief housekeeper in 1917—that they could not go on a skiing vacation alone lest they spark unwarranted backroom chatter.19 There were raised eyebrows and whispered stories about her role as his unofficial gatekeeper. Despite his warning, she accompanied him sometimes on holidays, cooked his food, prepared his clerical robes, and even advised him on whether he was too tired to hold an audience.20 (When he was later Pope, she stood near him after every general Mass to disinfect his right hand since hundreds of the faithful had kissed his fisherman’s ring during the service. Skeptical Curia officials eventually gave her the irreverent nickname of “La Popessa,” the female Pope, and historians rank her as one of a handful of the most influential women who ever lived inside the city-state).21

The gossipmongers even tried raising untoward inferences over Pacelli’s close personal friendship he had while a Nuncio with Francis Spellman, then a young American priest serving in the Secretary of State’s office.22 The two had vacationed in the Swiss Alps and spent so much time together that Pascalina reportedly intervened to separate them. But Spellman, whom Pacelli called “Spelly,” won the nun over.23 Pacelli sent the Curia rumor mill into overdrive when in the summer of 1930 he took both the priest and the nun on a one-month private holiday through Germany, Switzerland, and Austria.24

Most of Pacelli’s critics, however, were not worried about salacious gossip. They were concerned instead about more fundamental shortcomings. He had no pastoral experience since he had spent his career as a diplomat.25 Without having managed his own diocese, there were doubts about whether he had the skills to control the unruly Curia. There was also considerable pre-conclave debate about whether he was too cautious to be a decisive Pontiff. One of Pacelli’s closest aides, Monsignor Domenico Tardini, had said he “was not born with the temperament of a fighter.”26 Diplomats who had worked with him did not think he had a strong enough character.27 “Devoid of will and character,” concluded the Spanish ambassador to the Vatican. Osborne, the British Minister, noted that he was “not devoid of intelligence, but essentially there to obey.”28 The small contingent of foreign diplomats assigned to the Vatican all agreed that while in meetings he was charming, he often seemed uncomfortable. Conversations were frequently reduced to trivial issues and banal niceties. When pressed on any contentious matter, Pacelli would repeat his last sentence several times and then fall silent, hoping that somehow the conversation might change course. In cables to London, Osborne warned British ministers that Pacelli despised a fight and would refuse—even when he thought he was right—to overrule anyone.29

The concerted effort to stop him failed. The fear of war worked in his favor. His years as Nuncio and then Secretary of State convinced most of the cardinals that he was qualified to lead the church during a period of secular strife. On March 2, 1939, in the fastest conclave in three hundred years, Pacelli was selected as the 261st Pope after only three ballots.30 He was the first Secretary of State chosen in more than three centuries.31 He too chose the name Pius.

Only three days after he had become Pope, Nazi troops marched into Czechoslovakia and divided it into two states. The next day Pius convened a meeting with four leading German cardinals. He had not called them together to chastise the Führer for the armed aggression. Instead, Pius—who had chosen a dove carrying an olive branch as his coat of arms—believed that a condemnation would only worsen the tension.32 He told the bishops that his election presented the Third Reich and the Vatican with an unprecedented opportunity to repair the fraying relationship he had inherited.33 He assured them he would personally oversee German affairs and insisted he wanted excellent relations with the country he considered his second home. It was a complete break from the harsh rebuke of Nazi policy that his predecessor had proposed in Humani Generis Unitas. After debating whether he should address the Führer as “Illustrious” or “Most Illustrious,” he gave the cardinals a personal affirmation, in German, to take back to the Reich.34

“To the Illustrious Herr Adolf Hitler, Führer and Chancellor of the German Reich! Here at the beginning of Our Pontificate We wish to assure you that We remain devoted to the spiritual welfare of the German people entrusted to your leadership. . . . May the prosperity of the German people and their progress in every domain come, with God’s help, to fruition!”35 (The next month he directed Archbishop Orsenigo, his Papal Nuncio to Germany, to host a grand reception for Hitler’s fiftieth birthday.)36

Pius, who started every day punctually at 6:00 a.m., immersed himself in the minutiae of the Vatican’s daily operations. Every bishop worldwide was instructed to send him regular written reports. He insisted on being kept up-to-date on all political developments. Papal Nuncios sent daily dispatches from their capitals. And the new Pope sent back instructions to them by shortwave radio.37 After reinstating the discarded Papal tradition of dining alone, and ordering his three Franciscan servers to remain silent, he used mealtimes for an uninterrupted review of his huge pile of daily paperwork.38 One cardinal who later had to rewrite a letter sixteen times before Pius approved it said that “An audience with Pope Pius XII was like a university examination.”39

When it came to the church’s financial wizard, Bernardino Nogara, Pius did not immediately embrace him. While Pacelli was still Secretary of State, Nogara had passed a letter from the CEO of the House of Morgan to Mussolini, warning Il Duce that the United States would resist German—and therefore implicitly Italian—aggression.40 Pacelli regarded it a breach of protocol, since he considered diplomacy his exclusive domain; Nogara should stick to finances. Now, as Pope, he announced there would be no further overtures to any government unless he signed off.

But there were other problems when it came to Nogara. Some of those in Pius’s kitchen cabinet did not like Bernardino. Pascalina, for instance, distrusted him.41 So did the Pope’s cousin, Ernesto Pacelli, who had been the first president of the Black Noble–founded Bank of Rome. Nogara had been a trusted advisor since 1925 for Ernesto’s direct competition, Banca Commerciale Italiana (BCI).42 Ernesto warned his Papal cousin that Nogara’s loyalty was to foreigners, not to the Pope.43

Since Nogara had reported directly to the late Pope for a decade, no one in the Vatican was quite sure what he did. In an institution where gossip sometimes seemed an avocation, the secrecy surrounding his work resulted in several scurrilous rumors. Some believed he had squandered or stolen the multimillion-dollar settlement from the 1929 Lateran Treaty.44 Others thought he was conspiring with an ultrasecret Masonic lodge against the church.45

Pius XII appointed three cardinals to investigate whether there was truth to the malicious whispers.46 While that probe was under way, the Pope canceled Nogara’s standing weekly meeting.47 The cardinals grilled Nogara as well as all the employees in his Special Administration. They pried into his private life, questioned his friends, and compiled a thick dossier about his personal habits.

The new Pope wanted a fast resolution. Pius remembered all too well the bedlam caused by World War I and the debilitating economic fallout that followed the peace. If the cardinals uncovered evidence of malfeasance, there would be little time to find Nogara’s replacement.48

All the fretting ended when the cardinals returned in two months with their report. It concluded that the Vatican was far better off under Nogara’s guidance than at any time in its history. Nogara had invested Mussolini’s $92 million and it had grown over a decade to nearly $1 billion.49 Nogara lived in a modest apartment and supported himself mostly from his private savings. Once a week he went to the movies, preferring American films. There was no evidence of anything disreputable in his personal life. He took only a nominal salary of less than $2,000 annually (about $27,000 in 2014 dollars).

Pius marveled, asking the prelates how Nogara did it. “From point A to point B, we have understood it all,” one of the cardinals reportedly replied. “But, your Holiness, Nogara has gone through the entire alphabet. And we are just simple cardinals.”50

The report flipped Pius from a Nogara skeptic to an avid supporter. The Pontiff now saw Nogara as a reflection of himself, a loyal servant of God who put service to church above personal and financial gain. He restarted his weekly meetings with Nogara. The only change was that Nogara no longer maintained his notes of those one-on-one briefings.51

Having resolved any questions about Nogara, Pius turned his attention to the politics roiling Europe.52 In the months following his election, there had been a rush of new anti-Semitic decrees passed across the continent. In Italy, Jews were further banned from public employment. The Third Reich ordered them to carry special identity cards (a precursor to a later decree that would force them to wear a yellow star).53 Given his trademark cautious approach, Pius avoided any public comment.54

But in some countries, the Pope unwittingly sent the wrong message about anti-Semitism.55 He lifted Pius XI’s ban that prevented French Catholics from joining the anticommunist Action Française party. But Action Française was fiercely anti-Semitic. Pius was willing to ignore its anti-Jewish hatred as an inevitable element of its commitment to fighting bolshevism. None outside his senior advisors knew what prompted his decision, and it was instead widely interpreted as a tacit approval of the party’s venomous platform.56

In Hungary, the priests who served in parliament had voted for the country’s 1938 race laws. Some bishops and priests supported the Hungarian knockoff of the Nazi Party, the Arrow Cross.57 Not only did the Pope fail to urge restraint for any clerical support of the fiercely anti-Semitic party, but Pius again sent mixed signals by promoting József Grösz—a key Arrow Cross backer—as Hungary’s second ranking bishop.

In Slovakia, a country that resulted from the Nazi appropriation of western Czechoslovakia, the Catholic clergy were at the forefront of a national effort to bar Jews from the country’s business and social life.58 Priests had founded the principal political party, the unflinchingly anti-Semitic Slovak People’s Party. Jozef Tiso, the President, and Vojtech Tuka, the Prime Minister, were both priests. Pius was Pope only a month when Monsignor Tiso introduced Slovakia’s first race law (eventually thirty-eight race decrees were passed). The Third Reich expressed its “undisguised gratification” that such harsh anti-Semitic statutes “had been enacted in a state headed by a member of the Catholic clergy.”59 In line with Nazi racial doctrines, blood triumphed over religion. Anyone who converted to Catholicism after October 30, 1918, was deemed Jewish. Tiso, a theology professor, noted support for the laws in the contemporaneous writings of a Slovakian Jesuit theologian who concluded, “The Church advocates the elimination of the Jews.”60 Pius’s reaction to the events in Slovakia was to send Tiso an Apostolic Blessing.61 He did not do so to ratify its race laws but rather because the Vatican was pleased to have a new Catholic-run country in Eastern Europe. But many Catholic Slovaks interpreted the special blessing as a Papal endorsement.II

To his credit, Pius reached out to Britain, France, Italy, and Germany to gauge if they were interested in him mediating a peace. But no country took him up on it. Although they all liked Pacelli as a conclave front-runner, now that he was Pope they were uncertain of his loyalties. British intelligence speculated Pius might be an agent for Mussolini. The French Foreign Ministry went one step further, thinking it possible that his pick as Secretary of State, Cardinal Luigi Maglione, was a fascist spy.63 Any role Pius hoped to play as a mediator was crushed in August when the Third Reich and the Soviet Union announced a nonaggression pact. Pius had long tolerated the more thuggish aspects of the German Reich in part because he thought there was no better buffer to Stalin’s red menace. The new alliance seemed to many Vaticanisti a catastrophic development.

The news worsened the next month when the Nazi blitzkrieg into Poland marked the start of World War II. Ninety-eight percent of Poland’s thirty million residents were Catholic, making it one of the church’s largest congregations. Sixteen days after the Nazi invasion, the Soviets attacked from the East. Poland fell on October 6. The Nazis and communists split the country in half.64

Pius mistakenly believed that a fast conquest of Poland satisfied Hitler. He assured Cardinal Tisserant—who had been a French army intelligence officer during World War I—that there would be a peace within days.65 It was quickly evident that the Pope had greatly underestimated the scope of Hitler’s ambition. The German-occupied half of the country became ground zero for the war on Europe’s Jews, and an Italian consul who had fled told church officials early on about “unbelievable atrocities.”66 The American envoy to the Vatican later reported that Pius feared that a “forthright denunciation of Nazi atrocities, at least in so far as Poland is concerned, would only result in the violent deaths of many more people.”67

Pius knew there was particular reason to be vigilant about any upsurge in anti-Semitic violence in Poland. The country had a troubled and often violent history with its three million native Jews. When vicious pogroms swept the country in 1938 and 1939, the Catholic press said they were “understandable.”68 Top Polish prelates touted blood libel, the belief that Jews murdered Christian infants and used their blood either to make unleavened bread or Passover wine.69 The Vatican issued no reprimand a few years earlier when the country’s ranking cardinal, August Hlond, contended “that the Jews are fighting against the Catholic Church, persisting in free thinking, and are the vanguard of godlessness, Bolshevism and subversion.”70

Some Polish bishops were alarmed not by German moves against Jews but rather by Nazi-ordered closings of dozens of churches and arrests of hundreds of priests. A few were so frustrated by Pius’s passivity that they even talked about severing their allegiance to Rome in protest.71
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